การศึกษาปฏิกิริยาไฮโดรดีซัลเฟอไรเซชันและไฮโดรดีไนโตรจิเนชันของไดเบนโซไทโอฟีนผสมกับพิ ริดีนในน้ำมันดีเซลบนตัวเร่งปฏิกิริยาโคบอลต์-โมลิบดินัมโดยมีอะลูมินา-ไทเทเนียเป็นตัวรองรับ

นางสาวธีราพร เหลืองอ่อน

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิศวกรรมศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาวิศวกรรมเคมี ภาควิชาวิศวกรรมเคมี คณะวิศวกรรมศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2556 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

บทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทยานิพนธ์ตั้งแต่ปีการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุฬาฯ (CUIR) เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text of theses from the academic year 2011 in Chulalongkorn University Intellectual Repository(CUIR) are the thesis authors' files submitted through the Graduate School.

# HYDRODESULFURIZATION AND HYDRODENITROGENATION OF DIBENZOTHIOPHENE MIXED WITH PYRIDINE IN DIESEL OIL OVER CoMo CATALYSTS SUPPORTED ON Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub>

Ms. Teraporn Leungon

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Engineering Program in Chemical Engineering Department of Chemical Engineering Faculty of Engineering Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2013 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

HYDRODESULFURIZATION AND
HYDRODENITROGENATION OF DIBENZOTHIOPHENE
MIXED WITH PYRIDINE IN DIESEL OIL OVER CoMo
CATALYSTS SUPPORTED ON Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> -TiO <sub>2</sub>
Ms. Teraporn Leungon
Chemical Engineering
Akawat Sirisuk, Ph.D.

Accepted by the Faculty of Engineering, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master's Degree

> ..... Dean of the Faculty of Engineering (Professor Bundhit Eua-Arporn, Ph.D.)

THESIS COMMITTEE

..... Chairman (Professor Piyasan Praserthdam, Dr.Ing.)

..... Thesis Advisor

(Akawat Sirisuk, Ph.D.)

..... Examiner

(Professor Suttichai Assabumrungrat, Ph.D.)

..... External Examiner

(Nattaya Comsup, D.Eng.)

ธีราพร เหลืองอ่อน : การศึกษาปฏิกิริยาไฮโดรดีซัลเฟอไรเซชันและไฮโดรดีไนโตรจิเนซั น ของไดเบนโซไทโอฟีนผสมกับพิริดีนในน้ำมันดีเซลบนตัวเร่งปฏิกิริยาโคบอลต์ -โมลิบดินัม โดยมีอะลูมิน า-ไทเทเนียเป็นตัวรองรับ . (HYDRODESULFURIZATION AND HYDRODENITROGENATION OF DIBENZOTHIOPHENE MIXED WITH PYRIDINE IN DIESEL OIL OVER CoMo CATALYSTS SUPPORTED ON Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub>) อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก: อ.ดร.อัครวัต ศิริสุข, 86 หน้า.

ในงานวิจัยนี้ได้ทำการศึกษาปฏิกิริยาไฮโดรดีซัลเฟอไรเซชันและปฏิกิริยาไฮโดรดีไนโตรจิ เนชันของไดเบนโซไทโอฟีนผสมกับพิริดีนในน้ำมันดีเซลด้วยตัวเร่งปฏิกิริยาโคบอลต์ -โมลิบดินัม บนตัวรองรับโลหะออกไซด์สององค์ประกอบนี้โดยที่ตัวรองรับนี้จะทำการเตรียมโดยใช้เทคนิคโซล เจล ซึ่ง TiO<sub>2</sub> จะเติมลงไปในสัดส่วน 10-50 เปอร์เซ็นต์โดยน้ำหนัก หลังจากนั้นโคบอลต์ -โม ลิบดินัมจะถูกตรึงในตัวรองรับโลหะออกไซด์ผสมเหล่านี้โดยตัวเร่งปฏิกิริยาจะทำการวิเคราะห์ด้วย เทคนิค ICP-OES, XRD, N<sub>2</sub> physisorption, H<sub>2</sub>-TPR, NH<sub>3</sub>-TPD และ CO-Chemisorption สำหรับปฏิกิริยาไฮโดรดีซัลเฟอไรเซชันและปฏิกิริยาไฮโดรดีไนโตรจิเนชันจะทำในเครื่องปฏิกรณ์ แบบเบดบรรจุที่อุณหภูมิ 350 องศาเซลเซียส และความดัน 80 บาร์ภายใต้ก๊าซไนโตรเจน นอกจากนี้ผลของพิริดีนที่ใช้เป็นตัวแทนของสารประกอบในโตรเจนซึ่งจะทำการเปลี่ยนความ เข้มข้นของในโตรเจนจำนวน 5 ค่า เพื่อศึกษาผลกระทบที่มีต่อประสิทธิภาพของตัวเร่งปฏิกิริยา ก่อนที่จะทำการทดสอบนั้นจะต้องทำตัวเร่งปฏิกิริยาอยู่ในรูปซัลไฟด์ด้วยไดเมทิลไดซัลไฟด์ภายใต้ ้ก๊าซไฮโดรเจนเพื่อกระตุ้นตัวเร่งปฏิกิริยา จากการศึกษาพบว่าการเติม TiO<sub>2</sub> ลงใน Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>ช่วยเพิ่ม ความเป็นกรดของพื้นผิวและช่วยในการรีดิวซ์ของโมลิบดินัมโดยช่วยลดอันตรกิริยาระหว่างโลหะ กับตัวรองรับของตัวเร่งปฏิกิริยากิริยา ตัวเร่งปฏิกิริยาโคบอลต์ -โมลิบดินัมบนตัวรองรับ Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub> ที่มี 50 เปอร์เซ็นต์โดยน้ำหนักของ Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> แสดงความว่องไวในการเกิดปฏิกิริยาไฮโดรดีซัลเฟอร์ไรเซ ชันและปฏิกิริยาไฮโดรดีไนโตรจิเนชันสูงที่สุด การเพิ่มความเข้มข้นของพิริดีนที่ใช้เป็นตัวแทนของ สารประกอบในโตรเจนส่งผลให้ความว่องไวในการเกิดปฏิกิริยาไฮโดรซัลเฟอไรเซชันลดลง ตามลำดับ

ภาควิชา	วิศวกรรมเคมี	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
สาขาวิชา	วิศวกรรมเคมี	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก
ปีการศึกษา	2556	

# # #5470233121: MAJOR CHEMICAL ENGINEERING KEYWORDS: HYDRODESULFURIZATION/ DIBENZOTHIOPHENE/ HYDRODENITROGENATION/ PYRIDINE/ CoMo CATALYST

TERAPORN LEAUNGON: HYDRODESULFURIZATION AND HYDRODENITROGENATON OF DIBENZOTHIOPHENE MIXED WITH PYRIDINE IN DIESEL OIL OVER CoMo CATALYSTS SUPPORTED ON Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub>. ADVISOR: AKAWAT SIRISUK, Ph.D., 86 pp

This research studied the hydrodesulfurization (HDS) and hydrodenitrogenation (HDN) of dibenzothiophene (DBT) mixed with pyridine in diesel oil over CoMo catalysts supported on Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub> mixed oxides were prepared by sol-gel methods. The amount of TiO<sub>2</sub> that was incorporated into Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> was in the range of 10-50 wt. %. Then cobalt and molybdenum were co-deposited on these mixed oxide supports. The catalysts were characterized by ICP-OES, XRD, N<sub>2</sub> physisorption, H<sub>2</sub>-TPR, NH<sub>3</sub>-TPD, and CO-Chemisorption techniques. HDS and HDN reactions were carried out in a packed bed microreactor at 350°C and 80 bars of H<sub>2</sub> pressure. Five different nitrogen concentrations from pyridine were employed to investigate its effect on the catalytic activity. Prior to each run, the catalyst was sulfided using dimethyldisulfide (DMDS) under hydrogen atmosphere to activate the catalysts. From this study, the addition of TiO<sub>2</sub> to Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> increased the surface acidity and led to move reduction of Mo to the lower state by lowering the metal-support interaction of catalysts. The CoMo catalyst on Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub> supports containing 50 wt. % of Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> exhibited the highest activities for both HDS and HDN. Addition of pyridine to the feed lowered the HDS activity of the catalysts. An increase in the concentration of nitrogen compound in the feed led to further reduction in HDS activity of the catalyst.

Department Chemical Engineering	Student's Signature
Field of Study Chemical Engineering	Advisor's Signature
Academic Year 2013	

V

# **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

The author would like to express her greatest gratitude and appreciation to her advisor, Dr. Akawat Sirisuk for his invaluable guidance, providing value suggestions and his kind supervision throughout this study. In addition, she is also grateful to Professor Dr. Piyasan Praserthdam, as the chairman, Professor Dr. Suttichai Assabumrungrat and Dr. Nattaya Comsup as the committee. I have learned a lot from all of the committee members in many different aspects.

Special thanks to Miss Pawinee Sintarako from PTT Research and Technology Institute, who provide her with many experimental facilities during his research. The author wishes to thank Mr. Trisik Srisayan and many friends in Center of Excellence on Catalysis and Catalytic Reaction Engineering (CECC) who always provide the encouragement along the thesis study.

The financial support from the PTT Public Company Limited is gratefully acknowledged.

Finally, she would like to dedicate the achievement of this work to her parents, who have always been the source of his suggestion, support and encouragement.

# CONTENTS

	F
ABSTRACT IN THAI	
ABSTRACT IN ENGLISH	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
CONTENTS	
LIST OF TABLES	
LIST OF FIGURES	
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Rationale	
1.2 Objective	
1.3 Research scopes	
1.4 Research methodology	
CHAPTER II THEORY	
2.1 Hydrotreating	
2.1.1 Hydrotreating catalyst	
2.1.2 Process flow of hydrotreating	
2.2 Hydrodesulfurization (HDS)	
2.2.1 Sulfur compounds in petroleum and fuels	
2.2.2 Hydrodesulfurization catalysts	
2.2.3 Reaction mechanisms of hydrodesulfurization	
2.2.3.1 Hydrodesulfurization of thiophenes	
2.2.3.2 Hydrodesulfurization of dipenthiophene	
2.2.4 The active site of hydrodesulfurization	
2.2.5 Inhibition of hydrodesulfurization	

# Page

2.3 Hydrodenitrogenation (HDN)	24
2.3.1 Main reaction pathway and mechanisms in hydrodenitrogenation	n 26
2.4 Catalyst supports	27
2.4.1 Alumina (Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> )	27
2.4.2 Titania (TiO <sub>2</sub> )	28
CHAPTER III LITERATURE REVIEW	30
3.1 Hydrodesulfurization of dibenzothiophene (DBT)	30
3.2 Hydrodesulfurization over HDS catalysts on mixed oxide supports	32
3.3 Effect of nitrogen compounds in hydrodesulfurization	34
CHAPTER IV EXPERIMENTAL	37
4.1 Chemicals used in the study	37
4.2 Catalyst preparation	38
4.2.1 Preparation of Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> -TiO <sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports	38
4.2.2 Preparation of CoMo catalyst	39
4.3 Catalyst characterization	39
4.3.1 Inductively Coupled Plasma-Optical Emission Spectroscopy	
(ICP-OES)	39
4.3.2 X-ray diffraction (XRD)	40
4.3.3 N <sub>2</sub> physisorption	40
4.3.4 Temperature-programmed reduction with hydrogen ( $H_2$ -TPR).	40
4.3.5 Temperature-programmed Desorption with ammonia (NH3-TPD	))
	40
4.3.6 Chemisorption using carbon monoxide as a probe molecule	
(CO-Chemisorption)	41
4.4 Catalytic activity test	42

	Page
CHAPTER V RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	47
5.1 Characterization of the Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> -TiO <sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports and the	е СоМо
catalysts	47
5.1.1 Inductively Coupled Plasma-Optical Emission Spectroscop	У
(ICP-OES)	
5.1.2 N <sub>2</sub> physisorption	49
5.1.3 X-ray diffraction (XRD)	51
5.1.4 Temperature-programmed reduction with hydrogen (H <sub>2</sub> -TF	PR) 53
5.1.5 Chemisorption using carbon monoxide as a probe molecule	•
(CO-Chemisorption)	55
5.1.6 Temperature-programmed desorption with ammonia (NH <sub>3</sub> -	TPD)
	57
5.2 Catalysts activity test	59
5.2.1 Catalysts activities CoMo catalysts	
5.2.2 Effect of nitrogen compound for HDS and HDN on CoMo	catalysts
	61
CHAPTER VI CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	64
6.1 Conclusions	64
6.2 Recommendations	
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX	
APPENDIX A CALCULATION FOR CATALYST PREPARATION	N <u></u> 75
APPENDIX B CALCULATION FOR HYDROGEN CONSUMPTIC	DN <u>7</u> 7

		Page
	APPENDIX C ADSORPTION-DESORPTION DATA	78
	APPENDIX D CALCULATION FOR METAL DISPERSION	84
VITA		86

# LIST OF TABLES

TA	BLE	Page
2.1	Example of typical hydrotreating processes	8
2.2	Typical sulfur compound in petroleum	10
2.3	Reactivities of several heterocyclic sulfur compounds	20
2.4	Typical nitrogen compounds in petroleum	25
4.1	Chemicals used in the study	35
4.2	Symbols and composition of the Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> -TiO <sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports	38
4.3	Symbols and composition of the CoMo catalysts	39
5.1	Composition of the Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> -TiO <sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports as determined	
	by ICP-OES	48
5.2	Composition of the CoMo catalysts as determined by ICP-OES	48
5.3	Surface area, pore volume, and pore size of the Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> -TiO <sub>2</sub> mixed oxide	
	support as determined by N <sub>2</sub> physisorption	49
5.4	Specific surface area, pore volume, and pore size of the CoMo catalysts	
	as determined by N <sub>2</sub> physisorption	50
5.5	Amount of hydrogen consumption for reduction of the CoMo catalysts	55
5.6	CO-Chemisorption results of the CoMo catalysts	56
5.7	Quantitative results from NH <sub>3</sub> -TPD of the CoMo catalysts	58
5.8	Catalytic activities of the CoMo catalysts	61

# LIST OF FIGURES

TABLE	Page
1.1 Diagram of research methodology	3
2.1 The structure of CoMo catalyst	5
2.2 Single-Stage Process Flow Diagrams	6
2.3 Reactor design for deep HDS	7
2.4 Periodic trends of the HDS of DBT at 673 K and 30 bar	12
2.5 Exchange of the labile sulfur on the sulfide Co-Mo/Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> with $H_2S_{}$	12
2.6 Mechanism of HDS of DBT on sulfide Co-Mo/Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> catalyst	13
2.7 Maim reaction pathways in HDS of thiophene	
2.8 Main reaction pathways in HDS of dibenzothiophenes	18
2.9 Proposed reaction pathways for dibenzothiophene	
2.10 Schematic representation of Topsøe's Co-Mo-S model, showing perspec	tive
views of: (a) the coordination around the Co site and (b) a $Mo_2CoS_{11}$ un	it at
the edge Co-Mo-S site	21
2.11 Mechanisms of catalyst deactivation	23
2.12 Main reaction pathways in HDN of quinoline	26
2.13 The preparation of the transition aluminas	28
2.14 Crystal structures of anatase (a), rutile (b), and brookite (c) $TiO_{2}$	
4.1 Schematic diagram for catalyst packing inside in the reactor	42
4.2 Schematic diagram of the HDS unit	44
4.3 Temperature program for the samping step of the sulfidation step of the	
catalysts before catalytic activity test	45
4.4 The time for the samping step of the liquid products	46
5.1 Pore size distribution of the Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> -TiO <sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports by BJH plo	ot 50

# xiii

# Page

5.2	Pore size distribution of the CoMo catalysts by BJH plot	51
5.3	XRD patterns of the Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> -TiO <sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports	52
5.4	XRD patterns of the CoMo catalysts	53
5.5	TPR profiles of the CoMo catalysts	54
5.6	NH <sub>3</sub> -TPD profiles of the CoMo catalysts	57
5.7	Catalytic activities of the CoMo catalysts	60
5.8	HDS activity with feed that contained various amount of nitrogen of the CoM	0
	catalysts	62
5.9	HDN activity with feed that contained various amount of nitrogen of the CoM	lo
	catalysts	62
C.1	Adsorption-desorption isotherm of 50Al-50Ti support	78
C.2	Adsorption-desorption isotherm of 60A1-40Ti support	79
C.3	Adsorption-desorption isotherm of 70Al-30Ti support	79
C.4	Adsorption-desorption isotherm of 80A1-20Ti support	80
C.5	Adsorption-desorption isotherm of 90Al-10Ti support	80
C.6	Adsorption-desorption isotherm of CoMo/50Al-50Ti catalyst	81
C.7	Adsorption-desorption isotherm of CoMo/60Al-40Ti catalyst	81
C.8	Adsorption-desorption isotherm of CoMo/70Al-30Ti catalyst	82
C.9	Adsorption-desorption isotherm of CoMo/80Al-20Ti catalyst	82
C.1	0 Adsorption-desorption isotherm of CoMo/90Al-10Ti catalyst	83

# **CHAPTER I**

# INTRODUCTION

## **1.1 Rationale**

Petroleum or crude oil is a naturally occurring substance that consists of hydrocarbon as main composition. The contents are mostly alkanes, aromatic hydrocarbon, and impurities such as sulfur compounds, nitrogen compounds, oxygen compounds, metallic compounds, etc. These impurities can lead to pollution to the environment and be harmful to the body. Automobile emission from fossil fuels is an important cause of increased pollution at present. The exhaust gas from motor vehicles contains nitrogen oxides (NO<sub>x</sub>) and sulfur oxides (SO<sub>x</sub>). When these oxides are exposed to water vapor in the asmosphere, they transform to HNO<sub>3</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, which result in the acid rain phenomenon. Moreover, sulfur is also a well-known poison for catalytic converter used in automobile [1].

In recent years, environmental regulations play an important role in the reduction of environmental problems, especially air pollution and global warming. Reduction of sulfur and nitrogen in petroleum can be accomplished by several techniques. Hydrodesulfurization (HDS) and hydrodenitrogenation (HDN) are the processes by which sulfur- and nitrogen-containing impurities are removed from petroleum feedstock and fuels. At present the process is widely used, and is operated at high hydrogen pressure accompanied by hydrogenation of unsaturated and minor cracking of high molecular hydrocarbons.

HDS and HDN catalysts are usually CoMo or NiMo supported on  $Al_2O_3$ .  $Al_2O_3$  is the most common commercial support because of its excellence thermal stability and wide range of chemical, physical and catalytic properties. Nonetheless,  $Al_2O_3$  does not exhibit high catalytic activity for reduction of sulfur in petroleum feedstock when it is used as the supporting material for CoMo or NiMo catalyst. The preparation of mixed oxide supports containing  $TiO_2$  has attracted attention as support for hydrotreating catalysts because the high hydrodesulfurization (HDS) activity is shown by  $TiO_2$  supported molybdenum catalysts. But disadvantages of  $TiO_2$  as a support is that it was low surface area, low thermal stabilities, and unsuitable mechanical properties therefore, much attention has been spent to the application of mixed oxide containing  $TiO_2$ . It may improve some disadvantages for new support that can be used as industrial catalyst in nowadays [2].

## **1.2 Objective**

The objective of this research is to investigate the effect of addition of  $TiO_2$  to  $Al_2O_3$  support and the effect of nitrogen compound (i.e., of pyridine) on hydrodesulfurization activity of dibenzothiophene over supported CoMo catalysts in the presence of pyridine.

## **1.3 Research scopes**

The scopes of this study are as follows:

1. Mixed  $Al_2O_3$ -TiO<sub>2</sub> supports are prepared by sol-gel methods. The amounts of  $Al_2O_3$  loading are 50, 60, 70, 80, and 90 wt. %.

2. Five different concentrations of nitrogen from pyridine were employed to investigate its effect on the catalytic activity.

3. Cobalt-molybdenum (CoMo) catalysts were prepared by impregnation on those above supports at 2.93 wt. % cobalt and 13.7 wt. % molybdenum.

- 4. Characterization of CoMo catalyst by the following techniques:
- Inductively Coupled Plasma-Optical Emission Spectroscopy (ICP-OES) to determine elemental composition of the catalyst.
- X-ray diffraction to determine crystallite size and phase.
- N<sub>2</sub> physisorption for BET surface area, pore volume, and pore size.
- Temperature-programmed desorption with ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>-TPD) to determine the amount of surface acid site.
- Temperature-programmed reduction with hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>-TPR) to evaluate the degree of reducibility.

- Carbon monoxide chemisorption (CO-Chemsorption) to determine metal dispersion of the catalysts.

5. Measurement of the catalytic activity of those CoMo catalysts on hydrodesulfurization and hydrodenitrogenation of dibenzothiophene with sulfur content at 2000 ppm and in the presence of pyridine with five different nitrogen concentrations (100, 200, 300, 400, and 500 ppm).

## 1.4 Research methodology



Figure 1.1 Diagram of research methodology

# **CHAPTER II**

# THEORY

# 2.1 Hydrotreating

The objective of the hydrotreating process is remove sulfur, nitrogen, oxygen, and metal atom are hydrogenated using hydrogen as a reactant. These processes use catalysts based on transition metal sulfides. This is attention to improving product quality by hydrogen treatment, mainly consists of hydrodesulfurization (HDS), hydrodenitrogenation (HDN), hydrodeoxygenation (HDO), and hydrodemetalization (HDM). HDS has been the main concern of hydrotreating in industry, due to the increasing use of heavy crude oils which has a high sulfur components and global reductions in the sulfur content allowance of automotive fuels [3]. HDN is problem that has received much attention due to the presence of nitrogen-containing compounds this has resulted in a decrease of HDS process. The presence of nitrogen-containing aromatic rings desire hydrogenation before to nitrogen removal. Hydrogenation of nitrogen-containing aromatic rings is difficult because of steric and thermodynamic limitations [4].

## 2.1.1 Hydrotreating Catalysts

Catalysts for hydrotreating are alumina supported Mo and W based sulfides with promoters of Ni or Co sulfides. Alumina is the best support in terms of surface area (200-300 m<sup>2</sup>/g), pore size control, stability of thermal, mechanical strength and cost. Molybdenum (15-20wt %), Co and Ni (1-5wt %) precursor are impregnated to be highly dispersed onto alumina. The impregnated catalyst is calcined and sulfided in the commercial application for the catalytic activity. The Co (Ni) MoS phase, it is believed to active species but the Co (Ni)<sub>9</sub>S<sub>8</sub> and C0(Ni)/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> which are not active. The Co (Ni) MoS phase include of small layered crystals of S and Co/Mo as illustrated in Fig. 2.1 [5]. The Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> surface contact with CoMo layer that is in the bottom this is believed difficult to sulfide into the active form, therefore multi-layered stacks of these are believed to be more active on alumina supports. The edge and rim of the Co (Ni) MoS phases are believed particularly active for hydrotreating reactions. However, active sites for hydrogenation and C-X fission are not fully solved.



Figure 2.1 The structure of CoMo catalyst [5]

## 2.1.2 Process flow of hydrotreating

Hydrotreating flow diagram is illustrated in Fig. 2.2, where single stage hydrotreating. The feed oil is pumped up to the required pressure and mixed with make-up and recycle hydrogen-rich gas. The temperature is primarily raised by heat exchange. The feed oil is hydroprocessed over the catalyst in the reactor under a flow of hydrogen-rich gas. The reactor may be increased depend on the condition or throughput rate.



Figure 2.2 Single-Stage Process Flow Diagrams [6]

In general, a fixed bed reactor is used for hydrotreating process. The optimum catalysts are packed in each bed according to the requirements of the bed. The feed oil and hydrogen rich gas are supplied from the top of the reactor. Hydrogen gas is injected at the reactor to control the reaction temperature, due to hydrotreating reactions are exothermic. The reactor is cooled down by feed to the reactor in the heat exchanger. Following heat exchange, the gas and liquid products are separated by a high temperature, high pressure vessel according to boiling points. The gaseous products from the high pressure vessel are fed to an absorbing column for remove  $H_2S$ , and the cleaned hydrogen rich gas is recycled to the reactor.

Two types of hydrotreating process are single stage process and multiple stage process. The single stage process has the same process flow as mentioned above. The feed is hydroprocessed continuality without obvious separation in between the reactor. However, a single stage process does not mean that only one reactor is used.

In a multi stage process, the unwanted products of the first stage are separated and removed before the second stage. The unwanted products of secondary reaction are poison and inhibitors produced in the first stage are removed before beginning the second stage of the conversion [7]. This reduces the load on the second stage and



increases its reactivity. The multi staged processes have very high conversions, so called deep refining.

Figure 2.3 Reactor design for deep HDS [8]

The present authors proposed a new type of reactor as shown in Fig. 2.3. The Gas oil was reacted separately in upper and lower parts of the catalyst bed. Hydrogen was charged from the bottom of the reactor. The optimum catalysts can be applied for the respective parts of the bed. Pressure drop may be occurring at the lower part of the reactor, where the hydrogen is up flow while liquid feed is down flow. A honeycomb type catalyst bed is now available for this problem.

$\Delta H^0$ at 700 K (kcal/mol)
-16.77
-27.99
-28.73
-66.98
-93.90
-30.51

**Table 2.1** Example of typical hydrotreating processes [9]

All reactions and thermodynamic heat of reactions in hydrotreating processes that are important in industrial viewpoints are shown in Table 2.1 in which in the present the sulfur oxides  $(SO_x)$  and nitrogen oxides  $(NO_x)$  emission affect to the atmosphere both human health and environmental problems. The three reactions in this figure are reaction to remove sulfur, nitrogen, and oxygen atom from organic compounds that contain any one of these atoms in a molecular structure. These reactions require control of many operating conditions such as catalysts, temperature, hydrogen pressure, liquid hourly space velocity (LHSV) of feedstock, gas hourly space velocity (GHSV) of hydrogen gas, etc. Besides all of three reactions that are called hydrogenolysis, hydrogenation of aromatic is also important due to this addition of hydrogen to unsaturated bonds can contribute to remove of heteroatom from petroleum feedstock.

Hydrogenation reaction is addition of hydrogen molecule to unsaturated bonds of the molecules and to make more saturation degree of the molecules. This reaction is generally exothermic reaction like as hydrogenolysis or hydrotreating that can show in the following reaction:

In these reactions are additions of hydrogen molecules without ring cracking but in more server condition like as high temperature and pressure, hydrocracking can be performed and the obtained molecule may be reformed into long chain without aromatic ring which examples of this hydrocracking reaction are shown in the following reaction:

## 2.2 Hydrodesulfurization

Hydrodesulfurization (HDS) is the reaction to remove sulfur from petroleum feedstock. This reaction about interaction with hydrogen over solid catalyst under condition of temperature and pressure, according to the generic transformation represented by Equation 2.1

Organic sulfur compound +  $H_2$  —  $H_2S$  + Desulfurized organic compound (2.1)

The literature of HDS chemistry and technology has been reviewed by McKinley (1957) and lately by Schuman and Shalit (1970), who included a complete literature compilation.

Many petroleum feedstocks are treated with hydrogen in catalytic processes to eliminate sulfur. HDS processes have had several objectives, among them pretreatment of catalytic reformer feed to protect poisoning of catalyst by sulfur and treatment of gasoline formed catalytic cracking to give sweetened and stabilized products. Desulfurization of heavy petroleum fractions gives products consist of diesel, jet fuels, heating oils, and residual fuel oils. This is the most important studied reaction of the hydrotreating process. HDS process is pretreatment of the feeds for refining step which is carried out over expensive noble metal catalysts readily poisoned by sulfur-containing compounds. Their combustion products create serious environmental hazards such as acid rain.

#### 2.2.1 Sulfur compounds in petroleum and fuels

Petroleum feedstocks is a very complex mixture consisting importantly of hydrocarbons this is containing vary amount of heteroatoms, which depend on source of the crude. Petroleum feedstocks include the sulfur-containing compounds listed in Table 2.2. In general, the compounds listed in the table decreasing reactivity in hydrodesulfurization.

Type of sulfur compounds	Structure
Thiols	RSH
Sulfides	RSR'
Disulfides	RSSR'
Thiophene	
Benzothiophene	

<b>Table 2.2</b> T	ypical	sulfur	compou	unds in	petroleum	[10]	
	~ .					-	

Organic sulfur compounds are widely found in many forms that sulfur atom is chemically bound with carbon and hydrogen atom. In generally, they are usually represented in term of thiols (mercaptans), sulfides, disulfides, thiophene, etc. These sulfur compounds can form oxide compounds such as sulfur dioxide (SO<sub>2</sub>), sulfur trioxide (SO<sub>3</sub>), etc. when it was burnt with air and its oxide of sulfur can react directly with water or moisture in air to form sulfuric acid ( $H_3SO_4$ ) that it impacts on environmental in the world [11-14].

## 2.2.2 Hydrodesulfurization catalysts

The most commonly used catalysts for HDS are derived from alumina support oxides of Co and Mo, which are usually sulfided in operation. The Co-Mo catalysts are perfect for HDS and less active HDN and hydrogenation reactions which are better run over Ni-Mo or the more expensive Ni-W. In contrast to the supported Pt and Pt-alloy catalysts employed in reforming, the HDS catalysts have hydrogenation activity in the presence of high intensity of sulfur compound.

Many other metals have been shown to be active in HDS catalysis, and a number of papers have been published on the study of periodic trends in activities for transition metal sulfides. The metal sulfides and supported sulfides have been considered and experimental studies show that the HDS activities for the desulfurization of dibenzothiophene or of thiophene which related to the position of the metal in the periodic as exemplified in Fig 2.4 [15].



Figure 2.4 Periodic trends of the HDS of DBT at 673 K and 30 bar [16]

Pecoraro and Chianelli [17] studied the activity of the first, second, and third row bulk transition metal sulfide (TMS). They set the HDS experiment by using dibenzothiophene as the feed model in a medium pressure autoclave followed in the Fig. 2.4. The figure shows the activity maximum at the sulfides of Ru and Os for the second and the third row transition metals.

Figure 2.5 Exchange of the labile sulfur on the sulfide Co-Mo/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> with H<sub>2</sub>S [18]

From the Fig. 2.5 and Fig. 2.6 shows the role of labile sulfur in the HDS reaction. In the exchange of sulfur, portion of the sulfur bonded with Co and Mo atoms was considered to be more labile and present as S-H groups in H<sub>2</sub> below 400  $^{\circ}$ C. When H<sub>2</sub>S was liberated from the structure of catalyst, an anion vacancy occurred and the adjacent Mo<sup>4+</sup> would be partially reduced to Mo<sup>3+</sup> at the same time. When H<sub>2</sub>S was introduced, the adsorbed H<sub>2</sub>S dissociated and formed new SH groups which the old anion vacancy disappeared and new vacancy anion appeared by liberating the H<sub>2</sub>S molecule.

In order was investigated the relationship between the labile sulfur amount with the HDS activity of the catalyst. Kabe et al. studied and suggested that the amount of labile sulfur can be transformed to anion vacancies (active sites) which this amount can be good relationship with HDS activity.

Figure 2.6 Mechanism of HDS of DBT on sulfide Co-Mo/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalyst [19]

#### 2.2.3 Reaction mechanisms of hydrodesulfurization

A complex of exothermic occurs when hydrotreating petroleum, the main classes of interest here including hydrogenation of aromatics, HDS and HDN. A many of work has been interested to the study of these reaction pathways, their kinetics, product distributions, intermediates, and reaction mechanisms, both on real feeds and mixtures of model compounds. Thermodynamics of the various possible reactions under standard catalytic conditions are known to control to a large extent the relative rates at which they take place. The various reactants can compete for the active sites, some of them therefore acting as poisons for the degradation of others [20, 21]. The HDS networks are very complex, due to they involve many of primary steps such as adsorption/desorption equilibrium, hydrogenation and hydrogenolysis reactions whose kinetics are strongly dependent on the reaction conditions and the structure of the particular substrate on the substituents present in such molecules. The composition of the catalyst and concentration of active sites are additional key features to be considered for each set of reactions. The literature is available in specialized monographs and reviews, and it continues to be the subject of an interesting. However, a general agreement in detail of mechanism is invoked; some common fundamental steps need to be taken into account, namely:

- The generation and the nature of the active sites
- The dissociative adsorption of hydrogen on the surface of the catalyst
- The chemisorption of the organosulfur compound on the catalytic sites
- The hydrogenation of unsaturated bonds and hydrogenolysis of C-S bonds

#### 2.2.3.1 Hydrodesulfurization of thiophenes

The adsorption of thiophene can occur in two modes. The first mode, onepoint (end-on) adsorption of thiophene molecule into coordinately unsaturated sites (CUS) that member of the thiophene ring can be adsorbed which shown in the following equation:

# ΟH

Which this spent catalyst can be refreshed by addition of hydrogen molecule for converting into active form shown in the following equation [22]:

In the second mode, multipoint (side-on) adsorption of the thiophene molecule on CUS shown in the following equation [23]:

For the HDS reactions of thiophene can be envisaged in Fig. 2.7:

(i) The step of hydrogenolysis of both C-S bonds to yield 1, 3-butadiene plus adsorbed sulfur. After hydrogenation of the primary products produce butenes/butane plus H<sub>2</sub>S thus regenerating the CUS. The presence of butadiene and the absence of tetrahydrothiophene as products of the mild HDS of thiophene support this pathway. In recently, Startsev proposed the involved idea of a concerted mechanism in the

intermediate butadiene. This is retained in the active site during the reaction in order to the primary products are the butenes [24, 25].

(ii) The direct HDS of  $H_2S$  disposal of thiophene to yield 1, 3-butadiyne plus adsorbed H2S hydrogenation of the diacetylene and desorption of  $H_2S$  would lead to the same HDS products [26]. This possibility cannot be applied to alkyl substituted thiophenes which could not possibly generate the corresponding dialkynes, so its relevance is rather limited [27].

(iii) Partial hydrogenation of thiophene leading to the temporary formation of 2,3-dihydrothiophene, which has been proposed on the basis of theoretical as well as experimental and studies [28, 29].

(iv) Complete saturation of thiophene to yield tetrahydrothiophene, followed by hydrogenolysis of the thioether into butane plus  $H_2S$  which is thought to occur at elevated pressures where tetrahydrothiophene has been observed as a major intermediate [30].



Figure 2.7 Maim reaction pathways in HDS of thiophene [31]

## 2.2.3.2 Hydrodesulfuization of dibenzothiophene

HDS of dibenzothiophenes (DBT) can also via to different pathways. This is shown in a simplified manner in the reaction shown in Fig. 2.8. Two reaction pathways are known to operate in parallel during the HDS of unsubstituted DBT and the preponderance of any one of them depends strongly on the catalyst formulation and on the reaction conditions. Substitution of alkyl in the vicinity of the sulfur atom, as in 4 methyldibenzothiophene and 4, 6- dimethyldibenzothiophene, results in a marked decrease in HDS rates. In general, this is associated primarily with a decrease in the rate of the direct sulfur extrusion routes, which is known to be disfavored whenever there is steric congestion around the sulfur atom [12, 13].



Figure 2.8 Main reaction pathways in HDS of dibenzothiophenes [32].

Egorova, M. et al. [33] have proposed two different reaction pathways. The first reaction pathway, DBT is direct-desulfurized to give biphenyl (BP). The second reaction pathway, DBT is hydrogenated prior to desulfurization to give the 1,2,3,4-tetrahydrodibenzothiophene (THDBT) or to give the 1,2,3,4,10,11 hexahydrodibenzothiophene (HHDBT) which is desulfurized to cyclohexylbenzene (CHB) and the pseudo-first-order rate constants are showed in Fig 2.9.

Figure 2.9 Proposed reaction pathways for dibenzothiophene [34, 35]

The figure shows that direct-desulfurization (DDS) pathway. DBT is desulfurized to BP is much faster than hydrogenation (HYD) pathway, in which DBT is hydrogenated prior to desulfurization over Co-Mo catalysts supported Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (Co-Mo/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>). It was also reported that the selectivity for CHB did not exceed 15% in HDS of DBT catalyzed by Co-Mo/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalysts at 340 °C and 50 atm [34]. The kinetic studies of DBT have been reported by many authors. Broderick and Gates performed the reaction of DBT in n-hexadecane over Co-Mo/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> at the range of 548-598 K, and 34-160 atm and the rate equation is showed in the following equation:

$$r_{HDS} = k_{HDS}K_{DBT}P_{DBT}K_{H}P_{H}/[(1 + K_{DBT}P_{DBT} + K_{H2S}P_{H2S})^{2}(1 + K_{H}P_{H})]$$

Where  $K_{DBT}$  = adsorption equilibrium constants of DBT,  $P_{DBT}$  = partial pressure of DBT. The rate expression implies that the surface reaction between DBT and H<sub>2</sub> is the rate-determining step and the retarding effects of the reaction come from DBT, H<sub>2</sub>, and H<sub>2</sub>S. Furthermore, DBT and H<sub>2</sub> are adsorbed at the separate adsorption sites.

Nagai, M. [35] reported the kinetic studies of DBT for HDS in a vapor phase over Co-Mo/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> at the range of 473-520 K and 5-50 atm that rate law is consistent with Langmuir-Hinshelwood mechanism without competitive adsorption between DBT,  $H_2$ , and  $H_2S$ . The expressions are showed in the following equation:

$$r_{\rm HDS} = k_{\rm HDS} K_{\rm DBT} P_{\rm DBT} K_{\rm H} P_{\rm H} / [(1 + K_{\rm DBT} P_{\rm DBT} + K_{\rm H2S} P_{\rm H2S})(1 + K_{\rm H} P_{\rm H})]$$

In this study, the activation energy of DBT HDS and the heat of adsorption of  $H_2$  were 23 and 4.5 kcal/mol, respectively.

Singhal et al. [36] reported the kinetic studies of DBT HDS over the range of 558-623 K, 7-26 atm, Co-Mo/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, tetralin solvent. They proposed the rate equation as:

$$r_{HDS} = k_{HDS}K_{DBT}P_{DBT}K_{H}P_{H}/[(1 + K_{DBT}P_{DBT} + K_{prod}P_{prod})(1 + K_{H}P_{H})]$$

Where  $K_{prod}$  and  $P_{prod}$  are the adsorption equilibrium constant and partial pressure of the products from HDS of DBT such as BP, CHB, and H<sub>2</sub>S. The equation shows that products other than H<sub>2</sub>S also contributed to the competitive adsorption with DBT.

Reactant	Structure	Pseudo first order rate constants (L/s.g-cat)
Thiophene	Γ	$1.38 \times 10^{-3}$
Benzothiophene		$8.11 \times 10^{-4}$
Dibenzothiophene		6.11 × 10 <sup>-5</sup>
Benzo[ <i>b</i> ]naphtho-[2,3- <i>d</i> ]thiophene		1.61 × 10 <sup>-4</sup>

**Table 2.3** Reactivities of several heterocyclic sulfur compounds [37]



*Batch reactor, Reaction temperature 300 °C, 71 atm, n-hexadecane solvent, concentration of reactant:* 0.25 mol%, Co-Mo/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>

From this table shows the pseudo first order rate constants of several sulfur compounds which it seems that HDS reactivity depends on the molecular size and the structure of the feed molecules.

## 2.2.4 The active site of hydrodesulfurization

The most widely accepted model for the structure of promoted HDS catalysts is nowadays the one advanced by Topsøe in terms of a Co-Mo-S phase. This proposal was initially based on very elegant work involving in situ Mössbauer emission spectroscopy, EXAFS and infrared spectroscopy studies of working catalysts. The catalyst is imagine to be consisted of single-sheet crystallites supported on the alumina surface and "decorated" by the promoter atoms (Co, Ni) at the edge planes, as can be seen from the schematic representation shown in Fig. 2.10.



**Figure 2.10** Schematic representation of Topsøe's Co-Mo-S model, showing perspective views of: (a) the coordination around the Co site and (b) a  $Mo_2CoS_{11}$  unit at the edge Co-Mo-S site [5]

From EXAFS measurements it appears that each Co is pentacoordinated in an approximately square-base pyramidal arrangement of sulfur ligands in structure (a) in Fig 2.10 with two neighboring Mo atoms, while each Mo is in turn hexacoordinated by a trigonal prismatic array of sulfur atoms with three neighboring Mo atoms and one Co atom shown in (b) in Fig 2.10 [6].

## 2.2.5 Inhibition of hydrodesulfurization

The active sites for HDS are all commonly or selectively subject to occupancy by the inhibitors. A several species in the feed and product are inhibitors for HDS. Reactive sulfur species appear to be less inhibited than the refractory species. This is because the S atom in the reactive species can easily go through metal insertion to break the C-S bond via the direct HDS route. The major S-compounds present and can compete effectively with inhibitors for the active sites on catalysts. On the contrary, when proceeding by the direct HDS route, the sulfur atom in refractory sulfur species may be sterically hindered. Therefore, their desulfurization must be performed after hydrogenation. Also, their concentrations become very low while H<sub>2</sub>S and NH<sub>3</sub> inhibitors increase their. Some processes have been developed which remove H<sub>2</sub>S and NH<sub>3</sub> between stages to minimize this problem as described above.

Other feed impurities such as N-compounds are severe inhibitors for the hydrogenative HDS route. They are strong  $\pi$ -bonding species and they inhibit the interaction of the refractory S-compounds with the active hydrogenation site. The overall HDS processes perform better when the N-compound inhibitors are removed prior to hydrotreating. Aromatic species are inhibitors for HDS of refractory sulfur compound as described above because refractory sulfur compound are desulfrized through the hydrogenation route. Aromatic species can be highly concentrated and can inhibit the last stages of HDS. That it is difficult to achieve.





A sulfur compound will be adsorbed on surface of the catalysts by strong chemical interaction and effects on catalytic activity can be illustrated in view of sulfur poisoning during CO hydrogenation on metal surface shown in Fig. 2.11, because sulfur atom blocks the reaction site of the catalyst which the adsorption abilities of metal atom can be changed. Besides these reasons, sulfur effect may be the restructuring of the surface which can cause in dramatic reactivity change. The designation of catalyst and operation of large scale processes for protection of catalyst deactivation or decomposition. The mechanisms of this deactivation issue can be divided into three main categories, e.g. chemical, mechanical, and thermal mechanisms. The poisoning is one of chemical deactivation that have important role to reduce the performance of the catalysts. The effect of catalytic activities depended on adsorption strength of poison species, sulfur species as a strong poison species like as chloride, oxygen, etc [39].
#### 2.3 Hydrodenitrogenation

Hydrodenitrogenation is to the removal of nitrogen from organonitrogen compounds by reaction with hydrogen over a catalyst, this product is ammonia plus a hydrocarbon, according to the generic transformation represented by Eq. 2.2

$$[R-N] + H_2 \longrightarrow [R-N] + NH_3$$
(2.2)

This is the most important reaction within of hydrotreating after HDS, due to nitrogen is generally the second most polluting heteroatom in crude oils [40, 41]. The importances of this reaction occur from similar considerations to the ones invoked for the need for HDS, namely:

- Environmental regulations and concerns, since combustion of nitrogencontaining fuels leads to the emission of highly polluting nitrogen oxides, responsible for acid rain.

- Possible poisoning effects due to the basic organonitrogen compounds that adsorb strongly on acid catalysts used in refining steps, such as fluid catalytic cracking (FCC) or hydrocracking (HCK).

- Improving product quality since N-compounds are thought to be responsible for many of the problems related to coloring and gum formation during storage[12].

The nitrogen content of crude oils, in general considerably lower than the sulfur content. The acceptable amounts according to present and future regulations are of the order of less than 0.001 wt. % in fuels and of less than 0.5 wt. % for FCC feeds. This type of nitrogen is present in the heavier fractions and in cracked fractions, the non aromatic N-compounds, mainly amines and nitriles. The most highly refractory molecules that are relevant for HDN-modeling purposes are represented by the families depicted in table 2.4.

25

Type of nitrogen compounds	Structure	
Aniline		
Pyridine		
Quinoline		
Acridine		
Indole		
Carbazole		

## Table 2.4 Typical nitrogen compounds in petroleum[42]

The organic compounds of nitrogen are in crude oils such as aniline, pyridine, quinoline, acridine, indole, carbazole, etc. These compounds can be oxidized to form oxides of nitrogen such as nitrogen monoxide (NO), nitrogen dioxide (NO<sub>2</sub>), nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O), dinitrogen trioxide (N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>), dinitrogen tetraoxide (N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>), dinitrogen pentaoxide (N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>), etc. These oxides can form with moisture in air to nitric acid (HNO<sub>3</sub>) that can cause to acid rain the same as sulfuric acid. While compounds of oxygen and metal were found very few amounts in petroleum beneath the surface on the earth that it effects on any problem about environmental pollutions or poisoning of catalytic processes so these impurities have to remove before the petroleum are fed to any chemical process.

In recent years, the environmental legislations are important role about global and public problems more than in the past because its effect of these problem such as acid rain, global warming, flooding, polar ice melting, ozone depletion, etc. Therefore, these issues have led to the need to manage the quality of the products and service systems that can cause in more serious situation.

#### 2.3.1 Main reaction pathways and mechanisms in hydrodenitrogenation

The reactions are in different combinations of three major types of reactions that take place once the organonitrogen compound has been adsorbed:

- Hydrogenation of N-heterocycles
- Hydrogenation of arene rings
- Hydrogenolysis and cleavage of C-N bonds



**Figure 2.12** Main reaction pathways in HDN of quinoline [43]

This is shown in Fig. 2.12 for quinoline, one of the most frequently used model substrates for HDN mechanistic studies. The prehydrogenation of at least the

N-heterocycle is mandatory for C-N bond breaking. The case of HDS, where prehydrogenation of the S-ring is a possible pathway but not a prerequisite for C-S bond scission. The overall HDN rates are dictated by a hydrogenation rate more than by the C-N bond breakage rate and therefore HDN kinetics must always be thoroughly analyzed in order to avoid misleading conclusions. High pressures of hydrogen are needed in order to increase the equilibrium concentrations of saturated amines. The reaction pathway in Fig. 2.12 would be involve pre-saturation of only the heterocyclic ring, prior to denitrogenation to yield n-propylbenzene. Nevertheless, denitrogenation without prehydrogenation has also been reported, while some authors consider that both rings are necessarily hydrogenated before any C-N bond is broken [44-49].

#### **2.4 Catalyst supports**

Some oxide systems are complex by the possibility of phase transition under operating conditions. A number of oxides can be formed in several different phase modifications. Example, TiO<sub>2</sub> can be synthesis in three different forms: anatase, rutile and brookite. Anatase can have areas up to 80 m<sup>2</sup> g<sup>-1</sup>, while rutile, which forms at temperatures above about 550 °C, has a much lower area. Each material used as a catalyst support must be examined that it does not sinter or suffer from phase transitions under the conditions. Another important parameter in determining which materials (oxides or other compounds) are used as supports is the texture of the solid. The surface area is important because the material to be supported also must have a high surface area to give it acceptable catalytic activities [50].

#### 2.4.1 Alumina (Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>)

Alumina is one of the supports most commonly used in the preparation of heterogeneous catalysts. This is because it is inexpensive and can be prepared easily in forms that have high surface areas, coupled with readily accessible pore structures. The raw material used for alumina preparation is bauxite. The oxide or oxyhydroxide is calcined to bring about dehydration and to form an alumina. The conditions used for the drying and calcination steps can be important in determining the structure of the resultant alumina. The temperature of calcination has a very significant effect on

surface area. The sequence for the production of the various transition aluminas and ultimately  $\alpha$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> are as shown in the scheme of Fig. 2.13.

Gibbsite 
$$\xrightarrow{523K} \chi$$
-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>  $\xrightarrow{1173K} \kappa$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>  $\xrightarrow{1473K} \alpha$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>  
 $\downarrow 453K$   
Boehmite  $\xrightarrow{723K} \gamma$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>  $\xrightarrow{873K} \delta$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (1323K)  $\theta$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>  $\xrightarrow{1473K} \alpha$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>  
 $\uparrow 453K$   
Bayerite  $\xrightarrow{503K} \eta$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>  $\xrightarrow{1123K} \theta$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>  $\xrightarrow{1473K} \alpha$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>  
Diaspore  $\xrightarrow{503K} \alpha$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>

Figure 2.13 The preparation of the transition aluminas [51]

The hydroxide or oxyhydroxide precursors is formed is very dependent on the preparation conditions. However, if the desired product is  $\gamma$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, boehmite is first formed by hydrothermal treatment of one of the trihydrates and this is calcined at about 723 K. which is the most commonly used as a catalyst support. The transition aluminas changes into other modifications at temperatures higher than about 873 K. The transition aluminas are transformed into  $\alpha$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (corundum) at temperatures around 1473 K. The forms of alumina,  $\gamma$ -,  $\chi$ - and  $\eta$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> are seldom used as catalyst supports as their surface areas are generally much lower than those of the transition aluminas[52].

#### 2.4.2 Titania (TiO<sub>2</sub>)

 $TiO_2$  supported systems exhibited higher activities compared to  $Al_2O_3$  supported over Mo and CoMo catalysts, but it is thermal instability, low surface area and poor mechanical properties.  $TiO_2$  occurs naturally in three crystalline forms:

(i) Rutile, which tends to more stable at high temperatures. The application of almost rutile type is used in industrial products such as paints, cosmetics and foodstuffs.

(ii) Anatase, which tends to be more stable at lower temperatures. This type generally shows a higher photoactivity than other of crystalline forms.

(iii) Brookite, which is usually found only in minerals and has a structure belonging to orthorhombic crystal system. Both of rutile and anatase type have a structure belonging to tetragonal crystal system are as shown in the scheme of Fig. 2.14. The two tetragonal crystal types are more common due to easy to synthesis. Anatase occurs usually in near-regular octahedral, and rutile forms slender prismatic crystal, which are frequently twinned. Rutile is the thermally stable form and is one of the two most important ores of titanium.



Figure 2.14 Crystal structures of anatase (a), rutile (b), and brookite (c) TiO<sub>2</sub> [51]

The three allotropic forms of TiO<sub>2</sub> have been prepared artificially but only rutile, the thermally stable form, has been obtained in the form of transparent large single crystal. The transformation form anatase to rutile is accompanied by the evolution of ca. 12.6 kJ/mol (3.01 kcal/mol), but the rate of transformation is greatly affected by temperature and by the presence of other substance which may either catalyze of inhibit the reaction. The lowest temperature at which conversion of anatase to rutile takes place at a measurable rate is ca. 700 °C, but this is not a transition temperature. The change is not reversible;  $\Delta G$  for the change from anatase to rutile is always negative.

#### **CHAPTER III**

# LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter contains the reviews of hydrodesulfurization (HDS) that have been investigated by many researchers in the past. The research review for useful knowledge such as catalyst selection, support selection, and operating condition. Some of the highlight researches are summarized in the following sections.

#### **3.1 Hydrodesulfurization of dibenzothiophene (DBT)**

In 2000, Chan Kwak et al. [53] presented effect of fluorine have been tested for the hydrodesulfurization (HDS) of 4-methyldibenzothiophene (4-MDBT), and 4,6dimethyldibenzothiophene (4,6-DMDBT). Fluorine addition to the catalyst promotes for enhancement of metal dispersion and the catalyst acidity. The HDS rates are improved by fluorine addition increase in the order of DBT<4-MDBT<4,6-DMDBT. Products of DBT HDS are obtained by the ring saturation is CHB more than BP produced by the direct desulfurization, while the opposite trend is observed in 4-MDBT HDS. The catalyst acidity reduces the steric hindrance to the C–S bond, which respon for the characteristic trends in the product distribution observed with the individual reactants.

In 2004, Marina Egorova et al. [33] studied over sulfided NiMo/ $\gamma$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, CoMo/ $\gamma$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, and Mo/ $\gamma$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalysts. The Ni and Co promoters strongly enhanced the activity of the Mo catalyst in the direct desulfurization pathway of the HDS of DBT and 4,6-DMDBT. H2S had effect on the HDS of DBT and 4,6-DMDBT, which was negative for the direct desulfurization pathway than for the hydrogenation pathway. The conversion of 4, 6-DMDBT was less affected by H2S than the conversion of DBT. H<sub>2</sub>S had affected to sulfur removal via the direct desulfurization pathway, it is same extent over all the catalysts. The CoMo catalyst performed better than the NiMo catalyst in the final desulfurization via the hydrogenation pathway in the HDS of 4, 6-DMDBT at all partial pressures of H<sub>2</sub>S.

In 2010, Yinyong Sun et al. [54] studied the HDS of DBT, tetrahydrodibenzothiophene (THDBT) and hexahydrodibenzothiophene (HHDBT) over Co-MoS<sub>2</sub>/ $\gamma$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and Ni-MoS<sub>2</sub>/ $\gamma$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>. The Co-MoS<sub>2</sub>/ $\gamma$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and Ni-MoS<sub>2</sub>/ $\gamma$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalysts for desulfurization of DBT at 300 °C were faster than that of THDBT and HHDBT. Pt-Pd/mesoporous NaH-ZSM-5 was much more active than Pt-Pd/ $\gamma$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, Pt-Pd/NaH-ZSM-5 and single metal Pt and Pd catalysts in the HDS of 4, 6-DMDBT. Noble metals on mesoporous zeolites are very active HDS catalysts and might be considered as catalysts in the second stage of a deep HDS process.

In 2010, Ara Cho and Sang Heup Moon [55] studied of Co or Ni-promoted Mo sulfide catalysts were prepared by combining three methods, the first method is sonochemical synthesis of Mo sulfides, the second method is chemical vapor deposition (CVD) of promoter addition and the last is fluorination of alumina support, to improve their performance in the HDS process. Sonochemically synthesized Mo sulfides exhibited higher HDS activity for the hydrogenation (HYD) of DBT compounds than in the case of the catalysts prepared by impregnation due to the improved dispersion of the Mo species. The addition of Co or Ni to the catalyst by a CVD method allowed the selective decoration of the Mo-sulfide surface in order to active site for HDS, Which had forms the Co-Mo-S and Ni-Mo-S phases. The efficiency of catalysts prepared by combining sonochemical and CVD methods was further improved by the addition of fluorine, which generated Bronsted acid sites that were responsible for the HYD route.

In 2011, Khaja W. Ahmed et al. [56] examined the catalytic activities of  $CoMo/\gamma$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalysts was prepared with [Co/(Co + Mo)] ratios of 0.3, 0.4 and 0.5 while containing a total metal content of 19 wt%. These catalysts were tested in a batch autoclave reactor after presulfiding. The objective of Co/ (Co + Mo) ratio was studied on the HDS pathways of BT and DBT. The results of the Co/(Co + Mo) ratio has a significant influence on the overall HDS of BT and DBT as well on the direct desulfurization (DDS) pathway, but no influence on the hydrogenation pathway. A Co/ (Co + Mo) ratio of 0.4 was found to be optimum for the HDS by DDS pathway.

#### 3.2 Hydrodesulfurization over HDS catalysts on mixed oxied supports

In 1996, R. Narvarro et al. [57] studied the hydrodesulfurization of DBT over unpromoted and Pt, Pal, Ni and Ru-promoted molybdenum catalysts supported on amorphous silica-alumina (ASA). Their activities were compared with a commercial Pt/ASA catalyst. The catalytic activity was found to increase in the following order: commercial Pt/ASA >> PtMo  $\approx$  NiMo  $\approx$  RuMo > PdMo  $\approx$  Mo  $\approx$  ASA. Characterization of the catalysts by XPS, TPR, and FTIR spectroscopy and pyridine confirmed that integration of 16.1 wt. % Mo, reduced the interaction between metal with support, and decreased the acidity of the catalysts. The incorporation of promoters enhanced molybdenum surface exposure and decreased the reduction temperature of MoO<sub>3</sub>. The Ni-promoted catalyst increased the amount of sulfidable Ni species. Pd-promoted was not very effective due to its poor dispersion, because its low percentage of active sites in the PdMo catalyst.

In 1997, E. Olguin et al. [58] studied molybdenum (Mo), cobalt-molybdenum (CoMo) and nickel-molybdenum (NiMo) catalysts were prepared over mixed TiO<sub>2</sub>-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> oxides containing between 0 and 100% TiO<sub>2</sub>. The results provided evidence for a support effect on the catalytic activities of the sulfided catalysts. Catalytic activity is reduced when low TiO<sub>2</sub> content in the support, a loss of cobalt in the Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (compared to the pure Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> supported samples), but for  $x=TiO_2/$  [TiO<sub>2</sub>+Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>] higher than 0.8, the support effect improved the HDS activity. Moreover, the activity depended on the nature of the model molecule used in the catalytic test on the experimental conditions (H<sub>2</sub> or H<sub>2</sub>S partial pressure).

In 2003, V.L. Barrio et al. [59] studied the catalytic activities of Pd catalysts with a second metal such as Cu, Ru or Pt over mixed  $SiO_2-Al_2O_3$  oxides (ASA) have been prepared (nominal content: 1 wt%) and tested in the naphthalene hydrogenation (HYD) and dibenzothiophene hydrodesulfurization (HDS) model reactions. The combined use of all these techniques revealed that only in the case of PtPd system a rather uniform distribution of the metals across the pore network is achieved, that the PtPd system exhibited strong Bronsted acid sites. The highest HYD and HDS activities of the PtPd catalyst can be related to a high dispersion of the metals,

uniform distribution and strong Bronsted acidity. The PtPd catalysts presented the highest DBT conversion (83.1%) and the lowest S-containing products (21.9 wt %) as compared with the much higher S-containing products (54.8 wt %) obtained with the Pd/ASA catalyst under the same experimental conditions.

In 2004, Naoyuki Kunisada et al. [60] examined to investigate activities in hydrotreating of straight run gas oil (SRGO) and its conventionally hydrodesulfurized oil (HSRGO) were used NiMoS supported on a series of alumina–silica with variable silica contents of up to 70%. Silica contents of 50 and 27% provided the highest activities in the hydrodesulfurization (HDS) of SRGO and HSRGO, respectively. The highest activity in HDN of SRGO and HDS of SRGO was obtained with the particular silica content of 50%. Silica contents of 27 and 50% provided the largest surface area, pore volume, and NH<sub>3</sub> desorption amount.

In 2007, Mohan S. Rana et al. [61] studied hydrodesulfurization (HDS) of dibenzothiophene (DBT) was carried out in a batch reactor at 3.3 MPa and 340 °C. The activity variation of sulfided catalysts showed as a function of support composition, which established that sulfided active phases strongly depend on the nature and composition of support. The incorporation of MgO, SiO<sub>2</sub>, TiO<sub>2</sub> and ZrO<sub>2</sub> with  $\gamma$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, which active phase interactions on the support surface. Different preparation methods of catalysts were carried out by using different additives during the impregnation, that co-impregnation method found better activity than sequential impregnation. The mixed oxide supported catalyst showed rapid deactivation with time-on-stream than the alumina supported catalyst that may be due to an enhancement in acidic sites. The activity results depended on catalytic sites is a combination of support composition, additive, impregnation pH, drying and calcinations of catalysts.

In 2007, Jolanta R. Grzechowiak et al. [62] studied alumina–titania supports containing 5–50 wt. % of  $TiO_2$  were prepared by coprecipitation method using inorganic precursors (sodium aluminate and titanium chloride). The results shows that the promoting effect of nickel with molybdenum catalysts supported on  $Al_2O_3$ -TiO<sub>2</sub> is significantly lower than that for molybdenum catalyst supported on  $Al_2O_3$  on the HDS

activity, and depends on the  $TiO_2$  content. The SEM results show that 80 wt. % Al support (20 wt. % of  $TiO_2$ ) molybdenum was aggregated on the external surface of the catalyst, whereas it was uniformly dispersed on the external surface of alumina. Modification of  $Al_2O_3$ - $TiO_2$  oxides increases the HDN activity of nickel–molybdenum catalysts. The highest HDN activity was obtained for the NiMo/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>- $TiO_2$  catalyst containing 50 wt. % of  $TiO_2$ . The HDN activity was found to depend on protonic acidity and anatase content.

In 2012, Fernando Trejo et al. [63] studied pure and mixed oxides (Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, ZrO<sub>2</sub>, Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-MgO, Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-SiO<sub>2</sub>, Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub>, and Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-ZrO<sub>2</sub>) were prepared by homogeneous delayed precipitation. CoMo catalysts were impregnated by incipient wetness method to mixed oxide supports. The catalysts were characterized by N<sub>2</sub> physisorption, X-ray diffraction, among other techniques. Acid-base properties were studied with isopropyl alcohol and cumene decomposition. Conversion of isopropyl alcohol leads to the dehydration products. The CoMo/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst exhibited the highest conversion during cumene cracking. CoMo/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst was the higher activity during thiophene hydrodesulfurization than CoMo/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst.

#### 3.3 Effects of nitrogen compounds in hydrodesulfurization

In 2001, Chan Kwak et al. [53] studied the poisoning effect of carbazole and quinoline, this is nitrogen compound on the performance of sulfided CoMo/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> in the HDS of dibenzothiophene (DBT), 4-methyldibenzothiophene (4-MDBT), and 4,6-dimethyldibenzothiophene (4,6-DMDBT). The nitrogen compounds inhibit the ring-hydrogenation step (HYD) more than the direct desulfurization step (DDS) in the HDS of DBT. The nitrogen compounds poison acidic sites on the catalyst, due to confirmed by the reduced amounts of pyridine adsorbed and by the inhibited isomerization of 2, 2'-dimethylbiphenyl on the poisoned catalyst. Quinoline exhibits a stronger poisoning effect than carbazole. The HDS activity of the three DBT compounds are suppressed to different extents by the nitrogen compounds because the extent of steric hindrance to the C-S-C bond by methyl groups attached to the ring structure is different depending on the DBT compounds.

In 2001, Georgina C. Laredo et al. [64] studied the inhibiting effect of basic and non-basic nitrogen compounds on the hydrodesulfurization (HDS) of dibenzothiophene (DBT). Nitrogen compounds studied herein are quinoline, indole, carbazole and a quinoline. The inhibiting effect of the non-basic nitrogen compounds was indole and carbazole, it is found to be comparable to that of the basic compound, quinoline. The inhibition behavior of these compounds is highly non-linear, which showed strong inhibition at concentrations of nitrogen as low as 5 ppm.

In 2004, Hong yang et al. [65] studied the effect of nitrogen compounds on the hydrodesulfurization (HDS) activities of dibenzothiophenes in light cycle oil (LCO) was studied over a NiMo/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> commercial catalyst. The inhibition effects of nitrogen compounds on the HDS reactivity of the three sulfur groups total sulfur, hard sulfur, easy sulfur and 14 specific mono-, di- and tri-alkyl substituted dibenzothiophenes were studied. The results showed that the HDS rate significantly increased using ultra-low nitrogen LCO. The HDS rates could be classified into three groups based on the position of the substituents. It was found that 4 and 6 substituted dibenzothiophenes had the lowest HDS rates. On the contrary, the HDS rate of the 14 substituted dibenzothiophenes were increased when the ultra-low nitrogen feed was used. The hydrogenation route is more strongly inhibited than hydrogenolysis route by nitrogen compounds because the hydrogenation route is believed to be the outstanding reaction pathway for 4 and 6 alkyl-substituted dibenzothiophenes.

In 2005, Hiroshi Mizutani et al. [66] studied the inhibition effects of nitrogen compounds on CoMoP/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalysts due to doping with Li or USY-zeolite in the hydrodesulfurization (HDS) of dibenzothiophene (DBT) and 4,6dimethyldibenzothiophene (4,6-DMDBT). Quinoline was selected as the model nitrogen compound. Conversion and selectivity of the HDS rate were investigated. The HDS of DBT as a reference probe molecule is thought to precede first through direct desulfurization pathways, then to hydrogenolysis. An important amount of benzene was detected in the case of CoMoP/zeolite-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>. In the presence of quinoline, a strong inhibition effect was observed for all the catalysts. The inhibition effects of quinoline on CoMoP/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-Li were smaller than the other catalysts, because this resulted in the enhancement of HDS activity. Furthermore, from the XPS

investigations we can conclude that CoMoP/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-Li showed a relatively higher sulfidation degree for both Mo and Co. Thus, it seems to have a relatively higher catalytic activity.

# **CHAPTER IV**

# **EXPERIMENTAL**

This chapter describes the preparation of the  $Al_2O_3$ -TiO<sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports for the CoMo catalysts. The catalyst characterization and the catalytic activity test are also explained in this chapter. The chemicals needed and preparation method of CoMo catalyst are explained in sections 4.1 and 4.2 The details on characterization of catalyst are described in section 4.3. Finally, the procedure for testing catalytic activity in hydrodesulfurization of dibenzothiophene is given in section 4.4.

#### 4.1 Chemicals used in the study

The chemicals used in the preparation of  $Al_2O_3$ -TiO<sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports, the preparation of CoMo catalysts, and the catalytic activity test are listed in Table 4.1.

Chemicals	Formulas	Suppliers
Aluminium triisopropoxide, > 98 %	$C_9H_{21}AlO_3$	Sigma-Aldrich
Ammonium heptamolybdate tetrahydrate, 99.98 %	(NH <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>6</sub> Mo <sub>7</sub> O <sub>24</sub> .4H <sub>2</sub> O	Sigma-Aldrich
Cobalt (II) nitrate hexahydrate, 99.999 %	Co(NO <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> .6H <sub>2</sub> O	Sigma-Aldrich
Dibenzothiophene, 98 %	$C_{12}H_8S$	Sigma-Aldrich
Diesel oil	-	Thaioil Public Company Limited, Thailand

Table 4.1 Chemicals used in the study

Chemicals	Formulas	Suppliers
Dimethyl disulfide, > 99 %	$(CH_3)_2S_2$	Sigma-Aldrich
Nitric acid, 65 %	HNO <sub>3</sub>	Merck
Pyridine, 99.8 %	$C_5H_5N$	Sigma-Aldrich
Titanium (IV) isopropoxide, 97 %	Ti[OCH(CH <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> ] <sub>4</sub>	Sigma-Aldrich

Table 4.1 (continued) Chemicals, formulas, and suppliers

#### 4.2 Catalyst preparation

#### 4.2.1 Preparation of Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports

The Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports were synthesized by the sol-gel method, using aluminum isopropoxide and titanium (IV) isopropoxide as precursor for Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and TiO<sub>2</sub>, respectively. The mixed oxide supports at various composition of Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> in TiO<sub>2</sub> can be made by separately synthesis of TiO<sub>2</sub> sol and Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> sol. The resulting solid was dried at 110 °C overnight and calcined at 450 °C for 4 h. The Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports with five different molar ratios are listed in Table 4.2.

Table 4.2 Symbols and composition of the Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports

Symbols	Amount (wt.%)		
	Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	TiO <sub>2</sub>	
50Al-50Ti	50	50	
60Al-40Ti	60	40	
70Al-30Ti	70	30	
80A1-20Ti	80	20	
90Al-10Ti	90	10	

#### **4.2.2 Preparation of CoMo catalyst**

The CoMo catalysts were synthesized using the co-impregnation method with cobalt (II) nitrate hexahydrate (as a precursor for Co) and ammonium heptamolybdate tetrahydrate (as a precursor for Mo) at 2.93 wt.% of Co and 13.7 wt.% of Mo. These precursor were dissolved in water and then added to the support by impregnation. After that, the CoMo catalysts was dried at 120 °C for 2 h, then calcined at 450 °C for 3 h under air flow. The impregnated sample are listed in Table 4.3.

Symbols .	Amount (wt.%)		
	Со	Mo	
CoMo/50Al-50Ti			
CoMo/60Al-40Ti			
CoMo/70Al-30Ti	2.93	13.7	
CoMo/80Al-20Ti			
CoMo/90Al-10Ti			

 Table 4.3 Symbols and composition of the CoMo catalysts

#### **4.3 Characterization of catalyst**

#### 4.3.1 Inductively Coupled Plasma-Optical Emission Spectroscopy (ICP-OES)

The metal content was determined using inductively coupled plasma-optical emission spectroscopy (ICP-OES). The amount of metal on the surface was measured with an inductively coupled plasma-optical emission spectrometer (ICP-AES) Perkin Elmer 20 model PLASMA-1000. Approximately 0.03 g of the catalyst was digested in 5 ml of 49 % hydrofluoric acid. The catalyst was stirred at 60 °C until solid catalyst was completely digested. After that, the solution was dilute to 100 ml in volumetric flask by using deionized water.

#### 4.3.2 X-ray diffraction (XRD)

XRD patterns of the catalysts were determined by diffraction of an X-ray beam as a function of the angle of the incident beam. The XRD spectrum of the catalyst was measured by using D8 Advance of Bruker AXS, equipped with a long fine focus ceramic Cu K $\alpha$  X-ray source. The pattern was recorded in the 2 $\theta$  range between 20° to 80° with a resolution of 0.5°. The XRD spectra were used to identify the crystal structure of the mixed oxide supports and the catalysts.

#### 4.3.3 N<sub>2</sub> physisorption

The BET specific surface area, pore volume, and pore size distribution of the catalysts were determined by N<sub>2</sub> physisorption technique. Approximately 0.2 g of catalyst was loaded in BEL sorp-max to perform nitrogen adsorption measurement at 77 K. The catalyst was degassed at 200 °C for 2 hours by BELPREP-VAC II prior to each measurement. Finally, specific surface area, pore volume and pore size distribution were calculated according to Brunauer-Emmett-Teller (BET) and Barret-Joyner-Halenda (BJH) methods.

#### 4.3.4 Temperature- programmed reduction with hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>-TPR)

The reducibility of the catalysts was assessed using temperature-programmed reduction with hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>-TPR) by using 10 % H<sub>2</sub>/Ar as reducing gas. Approximately 0.1 g of catalyst was loaded to Micromeritic ChemiSorb 2750 instrument equipped with a TCD detector. Prior to starting the reduction step, the catalyst was heated up from room temperature to 200 °C with a heating rate of 10 °C/min under nitrogen gas flow with a flow rate of 25 ml/min and the temperature was held for 2 hours. After that, the catalyst was cooled down to room temperature and then 10 % H<sub>2</sub>/Ar was introduced to the system at a flow rate 25 ml/min and the temperature was raised from room temperature to 800 °C at a rate of 10 °C/min.

#### 4.3.5 Temperature-programmed desorption with ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>-TPD)

The surface acidity of the catalyst was determined by temperatureprogrammed desorption (NH<sub>3</sub>-TPD) by using NH<sub>3</sub> gas as a probe molecule NH<sub>3</sub>-TPD. Approximately 0.05 g of catalyst was placed in a quartz tube and them in a temperature-controlled furnace of BELCAT-A instrument. Helium gas with a flow rate of 50 ml/min was fed through the tube and the catalyst was then heated up from room temperature to 500 °C with a heating rate of 10 °C/min and was held for one hour to remove moisture and impurities on the surface. After that, the catalyst was cooled down to 100 °C. Then 10 % NH<sub>3</sub> in helium gas was fed through the tube and was held for 30 minutes. Subsequently, helium gas was flowed through the catalyst at a flow rate of 50 ml/min for 45 minutes. Finally, the catalyst was heated to 800 °C with a heating rate of 10 °C/min and the adsorbed NH<sub>3</sub> that it was removed from the surface of the catalyst was detected by a TCD detector.

# 4.3.6 Chemisorption using carbon monoxide as a probe molecule (CO-Chemisorption)

The active sites on CoMo catalysts were determined by chemisorption of carbon monoxide as a probe molecule. The CoMo catalysts were sulfided by using 5 % H<sub>2</sub>S/H<sub>2</sub> gas as a sulfiding agent. Approximately 0.1 g of the catalyst was placed in a quartz reactor in a BELCAT-A. Then helium was fed through the reactor at a flow rate of 30 ml/min. Subsequently, the reactor was heated to 400 °C with a heating rate of 10 °C/min. After that, helium gas was replaced by 5 % H<sub>2</sub>S/H<sub>2</sub> mixture at a flow rate of 50 ml/min for two hours. Finally, the catalyst was cooled down to room temperature by helium gas.

To perform chemisorption, approximately 0.1 g of the sulfided CoMo catalyst was placed in a sample tube and was introduced to BELCAT-A instrument. Helium gas was fed through the tube at a flow rate 50 ml/min for 15 minutes at 30 °C. Then hydrogen gas was fed to the catalyst at a flow rate a 50 ml/min and the temperature was raised to 500 °C with a heating rate of 10 °C/min for 30 minutes. Subsequently, helium was introduced again to cool down the catalyst to 50 °C for 10 minutes. In the final step, carbon monoxide gas was injected to the catalyst pulsewise and was repeated until saturation was obtained.

#### 4.4 Catalytic activity test

Hydrodesulfurization of dibenzothiophene was carried out concurrently in two fixed-bed microreactors. Approximately 0.5 g of the catalyst was loaded in each reactor according to diagram of packing in the reactor is shown in Figure 4.1. The catalyst bed was diluted with silicon carbide and ceramic ball in order to reduce the dispersion effect and create a more homogeneous thermal distribution in the reactor.

The study of hydrodesulfurization of dibenzothiophene was conducted in a three-phase fixed-bed microreactor as shown in Figure 4.2. This system was located at PTT Research and Technology Institute (PTT-RTI)



Figure 4.1 Schematic diagram for catalyst packing inside the reactor

The two reactors were introduced to HDS unit. Prior to the activity test, the catalyst was sulfided using dimethyl disulfide (DMDS) in diesel oil at a sulfur content of 2.35 %( w/v). The temperature program for the sulfidation step was shown in Figure 4.3. The presulfided catalyst was first activated in hydrogen at a flow rate of

10.8 nl/h, pressure 60 bars. The temperature was raised from 160 °C to 350 °C and remained at that temperature for 4 hour.

After the presulfide catalyst step was finished, the diesel feed containing DMDS for sulfidation step was replaced by the diesel feed containing dibenzothiophene (DBT) feed with 2000 ppm of S at a flow rate of 0.36 ml/min. Prior to the HDS reaction, the temperature and the hydrogen pressure in the reactor system were adjusted to 350 °C and 80 bar, respectively. The time for the samping step of the liquid products was shown in Figure 4.4. After 12 hours, the first sample was taken and subsequent samples were taken every 6 hours. Approximate 1 microliter of samples was diluted with isooctane (ratio of sample: isooctane is 1:10). The samples were then analyzed for total sulfur content using Analytik Jena Multi EA5000.

Further experiments involved diesel feed that contained dibenzothiophene with a sulfur content of 2000 ppm and pyridine with various nitrogen content. Five different nitrogen concentrations (100, 200, 300, 400, and 500 ppm) were employed to investigate the effect of nitrogen content on HDS activity of the catalyst. The testing procedure were similar to the procedure without pyridine mentioned above. Approximate 1 microliter of samples was diluted with isooctane (ratio of sample: isooctane is 1:10). The sample were analyzed for both total sulfur and nitrogen contents by using Analytik Jena Multi EA5000.



Figure 4.2 Schematic diagram of the HDS unit





Figure 4.3 Temperature program for the sulfidation step of the catalysts before catalytic activity tests



**Figure 4.4** The time for the samping step of the liquid products

#### **CHAPTER V**

## **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

This chapter presents the physical, chemical, and catalytic properties of the  $Al_2O_3$ -TiO\_2 supports and the CoMo catalysts in the hydrodesulfurization (HDS) activity of dibenzothiophene in the presence of nitrogen compound. In addition, hydrodenitrogenation (HDN) activities of five different nitrogen concentrations from pyridine were measured to investigate its effect on the catalytic activity.

# 5.1 Characterization of the Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports and the CoMo catalysts

 $Al_2O_3$ -TiO<sub>2</sub> supports were characterized for specific surface area, pore volume, and pore size by N<sub>2</sub> physisorption. Elemental analysis by inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectroscopy (ICP-OES) was used to confirm the composition of  $Al_2O_3$  and TiO<sub>2</sub> in their supports. X-ray diffraction (XRD) was also used to detect crystal phases of  $Al_2O_3$  and TiO<sub>2</sub> in the supports.

The CoMo catalysts were characterized using several techniques such as ICP-OES, XRD, N<sub>2</sub> physisorption, temperature-programmed desorption with ammonia (NH3-TPD), temperature programmed reduction with hydrogen (TPR) and chemisorption using carbon monoxide as a probe molecule (Co-Chemisorption).

#### 5.1.1 Inductively Coupled Plasma-Optical Emission Spectroscopy (ICP-OES)

The elemental compositions of catalysts were determined by inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectroscopy (ICP-OES). The compositions of the mixed oxide supports and catalysts are listed in Tables 5.1 and 5.2, respectively. The result obtained from ICP-OES was close to the intended content of the catalyst.

The composition of various mixed oxide supports in form of percentage are compared with those obtained from ICP-OES. The intended compositions of  $Al_2O_3$  in the mixed oxide support are 50, 60, 70, 80, and 90 wt%, while the result from ICP-

OES are 52.46, 63.50, 72.85, 82.35 and 90.88 wt% of  $Al_2O_3$ , respectively. From this results, the compositions of all supports that were prepared by a sol-gel method were close to the intended values.

**Table 5.1** Compositions of the  $Al_2O_3$ -Ti $O_2$  mixed oxide supports as determined by ICP-OES

Sunnorts _	Composition (wt. %)		
Supports -	Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	TiO <sub>2</sub>	
50Al-50Ti	52.46	47.54	
60Al-40Ti	63.50	36.50	
70Al-30Ti	72.85	27.15	
80Al-20Ti	82.35	17.65	
90Al-10Ti	90.88	9.12	

The CoMo catalysts were characterized with ICP-OES to determine the amount of the active metal component. From Table 5.2, the amounts of cobalt (Co) was in the range of 2.75-3.34 wt.% and molybdenum (Mo) was in the range of 11.72-14.48 wt.%, while the intended amount of Co and Mo are 2.93 and 13.7 wt.%, respectively (in elemental form).

 Table 5.2 Compositions of the CoMo catalysts as determined by ICP-OES

Catalysts ———	Compositio	Composition (wt.%)		
	Со	Мо		
CoMo/50Al-50Ti	3.34	14.48		
CoMo/60Al-40Ti	3.34	14.09		
CoMo/70Al-30Ti	3.12	13.43		
CoMo/80Al-20Ti	2.75	11.72		
CoMo/90Al-10Ti	2.84	11.79		

#### 5.1.2 N<sub>2</sub> physisorption

 $N_2$  physisorption was used to determine the specific surface area, pore volume and average pore size of the Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports and the CoMo catalysts and the results from this measurement are shown in Tables 5.3 and 5.4.

Supports	Surface area (m²/g)	Pore volume (cm <sup>3</sup> /g)	Pore diameter (nm)
50Al-50Ti	272.9	0.30	4.38
60Al-40Ti	267.0	0.29	4.27
70Al-30Ti	270.5	0.29	4.33
80Al-20Ti	263.5	0.29	4.37
90Al-10Ti	240.4	0.28	4.67

**Table 5.3** Specific surface area, pore volume, and pore diameter of the  $Al_2O_3$ -TiO<sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports as determined by N<sub>2</sub> physisorption

The specific surface area and pore volume of the supports increased with increasing TiO<sub>2</sub> content. The 50Al-50Ti possessed the largest specific surface area (272.9 m<sup>2</sup>/g) and the largest pore volume (0.3 cm<sup>3</sup>/g). On the other hand, pore diameter increased with increasing Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> content. The specific surface area and pore volume of the catalyst were reduced after the impregnation of metal. These results are presented Table 5.4.

Table 5.4 indicates that after the  $Al_2O_3$ -TiO<sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports were impregnated with cobalt (Co) and molybdenum (Mo), the surface area and pore volume decreased. This may be because of the second calcination after metal impregnation.

Catalysts	Surface area (m²/g)	Pore volume (cm <sup>3</sup> /g)	Pore diameter (nm)
CoMo/50Al-50Ti	200.0	0.20	4.0
CoMo/60Al-40Ti	169.6	0.16	4.4
CoMo/70Al-30Ti	124.8	0.15	4.7
CoMo/80Al-20Ti	144.1	0.16	4.5
CoMo/90Al-10Ti	134.0	0.15	4.6

**Table 5.4** Specific surface area, pore volume, and pore size of the CoMo catalysts asdetermined by  $N_2$  physisorption

In addition to three properties ( specific surface area, pore volume, and pore diameter), pore size distribution of these supports as determined from BJH method is also shown in Figures 5.1 and 5.2.



Figure 5.1 Pore size distribution of the Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports by BJH plo



Figure 5.2 Pore size distribution of the CoMo catalysts by BJH plot

Pore size distribution of the  $Al_2O_3$ -TiO<sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports and the CoMo catalysts by BJH plot are given in Figures 5.1 and 5.2, respectively. Both figures display similar shape in the distribution of pore diameter. The distribution appears to be unimodal with an average about 4 nm.

#### 5.1.3 X-ray diffraction (XRD)

The XRD technique was used to investigate the crystal structure of support. XRD was scanned in the range of 2 $\Theta$  between 20° and 80°. The XRD patterns of the Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports and the CoMo catalysts are shown in Figures 5.3 and 5.4, respectively.

Figure 5.3 shows the XRD patterns of the  $Al_2O_3$ -TiO<sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports with different  $Al_2O_3$  contents. The peaks corresponding to the  $\gamma$ - $Al_2O_3$  structure were observed, particularly at the 2 $\Theta$  of 38.5°, 46.3° and 66.7° [67]. As the amount of  $Al_2O_3$ in the support increase, the peaks were more pronounced. The typical peak of anatase





Figure 5.3 XRD patterns of the Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports

The XRD patterns of the CoMo catalysts supported on  $Al_2O_3$ -TiO<sub>2</sub> mixed oxide are presented in Figure 5.4. After cobalt and molybdenum were impregnated into the  $Al_2O_3$ -TiO<sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports, the signals of crystalline CoMoO<sub>4</sub> were observed at the 2 $\Theta$  of 22°, 25° and 27° in the XRD patterns for all catalysts [69]. The formation of CoMoO<sub>4</sub> phase in the CoMo catalysts that were prepared by coimpregnation was reported by other investigators [70]. Moreover, the peak of crystalline rutile phase of TiO<sub>2</sub> could be observed at the 2 $\Theta$  of 28.5°, 33.7°, 36.7° and 40.3°. In addition, the weak signals of brookite phase were present at the 2 $\Theta$  of 46.2° and 49.3°. These peaks occurred because the support underwent the second calcination after metal impregnation, thereby leading to the transformation of the TiO<sub>2</sub> phase from anatase to rutile phase.



Figure 5.4 XRD patterns of the CoMo catalysts

#### 5.1.4 Temperature-programmed reduction with hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>-TPR)

Temperature-programmed reduction with hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>-TPR) was used to determine the type and reducibility of the cobalt and molybdenum species present in the catalysts. The CoMo catalysts in form of metal oxides such as CoO and MoO<sub>3</sub> were characterized by reducing from these oxide forms to metal forms such as Co and Mo. The H<sub>2</sub>-TPR experiment was used to measure the reducibility of the catalysts that assessed the ability to reform the form of metal oxide to metal. The reduction of catalyst is an important step in sulfidation during which the catalyst was reduced and was subsequently sulfided to activate the catalyst before hydrotreatment.



Figure 5.5 TPR profiles of the CoMo catalysts

H<sub>2</sub>-TPR results are presented in Figure 5.5. Two reduction peaks were observed at the temperature ranges of 480-500 °C and 550-590 °C. The first reduction peak around 480 to 500 °C was indicative of the reduction of Mo<sup>6+</sup> (MoO<sub>3</sub>) to Mo<sup>4+</sup> (MoO<sub>2</sub>) [71]. The second reduction peak detected around 550 to 590 °C may correspond to the interaction between Co and Mo species due to the CoMoO<sub>4</sub> phase, that was in agreement with the XRD results [72, 73]. From Figure 5.5, the CoMo catalysts supported on 60Al-40Ti mixed oxide shows the lowest reduction temperature at 480 °C. When TiO<sub>2</sub> was incorporated into supports at 10, 20, 30, 40, and 50 wt%, reduction peaks were observed at 500, 487, 480, 480 and 485 °C, respectively. This result suggests that the presence of TiO<sub>2</sub> in the supports shifted the reduction peak to lower temperature.

In addition, the quantitative evaluation of the CoMo catalysts are represented in Table 5.5.  $H_2$  consumption for reduction of the CoMo was determined from area under the curve.

Catalysts	H <sub>2</sub> consumption (mmol/g)
CoMo/50Al-50Ti	2.974
CoMo/60Al-40Ti	2.760
CoMo/70Al-30Ti	3.072
CoMo/80Al-20Ti	1.983
CoMo/90Al-10Ti	1.924

 Table 5.5 Amount of hydrogen consumption for reduction of the CoMo catalysts

Table 5.5 shows that  $H_2$  consumption in the reduction of CoMo/70Al-30Ti and CoMo/50Al-50Ti were higher than that of the other catalyst as a result of higher TiO<sub>2</sub> content in the support of catalyst. An increase in the amount of TiO<sub>2</sub> in the support gave rise to larger amount of reducible Mo in the catalyst by reducing the metal-support interaction.

# 5.1.5 Chemisorption using carbon monoxide as a probe molecule (CO-Chemisorption)

This section represents the determination of active sites on the catalysts using chemisorption with carbon monoxide (CO) pulse injection until surface of the catalysts was saturated with CO gas. Prior to each measurement, the catalyst must be pre-sulfided with mixture of  $H_2S$  and  $H_2$  in which composition of  $H_2S$  in  $H_2$  is 5 % (v/v). Sulfided CoMo catalysts were reduced with  $H_2$ . Anion vacancies that were generated were active sites of the catalysts.

CO probe molecules were injected over surface of the catalysts at which the molecule can be adsorbed. We employed this concept to explain the relationship between catalytic activities and amount of active sites of the catalysts

For details about this measurement, the sulfided CoMo catalysts was placed into the apparatus. Firstly, sulfided CoMo catalysts were reduced by hydrogen gas to create anion vacancies (active sites of the catalyst). Secondly, CO gas was injected pulse wise after the first step was finished which CO gas can be adsorbed efficiently on these anion vacancies. After these two steps have been finished, a computer program (Chem Master<sup>TM</sup>) automatically provided CO uptake of the catalyst. Then the metal dispersion of the catalyst can be calculated (see Appendix D) and the result is summarized into Table 5.6.

Catalysts	CO uptake (cm <sup>3</sup> STP/g)	Metal dispersion (%)
CoMo/50Al-50Ti	0.3840	18.42
CoMo/60Al-40Ti	0.3790	18.18
CoMo/70Al-30Ti	0.3125	15.02
CoMo/80Al-20Ti	0.2535	12.19
CoMo/90Al-10Ti	0.1751	8.40

 Table 5.6 CO-Chemisorption results of the CoMo catalysts

CO-Chemisorption results are shown in Table 5.6. CoMo/50Al-50Ti has the highest CO uptake and metal dispersion (0.3840 cm<sup>3</sup> STP/g and 18.42 %, respectively). In contrast, CoMo/90Al-10Ti has the lowest CO uptake and metal dispersion (0.1751 cm<sup>3</sup> STP/g and 8.40 %, respectively). In addition, CO uptake and metal dispersion became lower when more TiO<sub>2</sub> were present in the support. The amount of active site of the catalyst was in agreement with the results of H<sub>2</sub>-TPR. The TPR data was indicated that CoMo catalyst supported on TiO<sub>2</sub>-rich support (CoMo/50Al-50Ti) is more reducible and sulfidable compared to the other catalysts. Therefore, CoMo/50Al-50Ti contained the highest amount of active site.

#### 5.1.6 Temperature-programmed desorption with ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>-TPD)

The surface acidity of the CoMo catalyst was determined by the temperature programmed desorption with ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>-TPD). This technique was used to determine the acidity on surface of the catalysts in qualitative and quantitative forms. The temperature range in which the ammonia was desorbed was an indicator of the strength of the acid sites. The results from this measurement are presented in Figure 5.6 and Table 5.7.



Figure 5.6 NH<sub>3</sub>-TPD profiles of the CoMo catalysts

From NH<sub>3</sub>-TPD experiments, the strength of the acid site can be evaluated by the temperature at which the adsorbed NH<sub>3</sub> desorbs as seen in Figure 5.6. Three peaks were observed at temperature ranges of 120-500 °C, 500-700 °C and 700-800 °C, which will be named weak, medium and strong acid sites, respectively [74]. The increase in Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> in the support shifted the peak associated with weak acid site to higher temperature. It can be explained that Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> increased the interaction between NH<sub>3</sub> and the catalyst. In addition to qualitative view point, quantitative data were presented in Table 5.7. The data in this table was calculated from the integration of the three peaks of TCD signal versus time using a computer program, Chem Master<sup>TM</sup>.

Catalysts	Acid amount (mmol NH <sub>3</sub> /g)	Weak acid amount (mmol NH <sub>3</sub> /g)	Medium acid amount (mmol NH <sub>3</sub> /g)	Strong acid amount (mmol NH <sub>3</sub> /g)
CoMo/50Al-50Ti	0.947	0.733	0.155	0.059
CoMo/60Al-40Ti	0.810	0.632	0.157	0.021
CoMo/70A1-30Ti	0.815	0.602	0.189	0.024
CoMo/80A1-20Ti	0.808	0.582	0.204	0.022
CoMo/90Al-10Ti	0.610	0.370	0.240	-

Table 5.7 Quantitative results from NH<sub>3</sub>-TPD of the CoMo catalysts

The total acidities of the CoMo catalysts were determined by  $NH_3$ -TPD as amounts of  $NH_3$  desorbed per mass of the catalysts (see Table 5.7). The result from  $NH_3$ -TPD shows that the total acidity of CoMo/50A1-50Ti catalysts was higher than that of other catalysts, which can be attributed to the higher content of  $TiO_2$  in catalyst support. Moreover, The total acidity was also separated according to weak, medium and strong acidities. The weak and strong acid sites on the CoMo catalysts increased with increasing  $TiO_2$  content. However, amount of medium acid sites decreased with increasing in the  $TiO_2$  content. Moreover, the amount of weak acid site is greater than the other two acid sites, i.e., medium and strong acid sites. The activities of the catalysts was believed to depend on the weak acidity. The high surface acidity of the catalyst can improves the cracking ability. Moreover, the acidity of  $TiO_2$  could increase the catalytic activity by facilitating hydrogenolysis of C-S bond [61].

#### 5.2 Catalytic activity test

The experiment for catalytic activity test involved three stages of the investigation. Firstly, the effect of sulfur compound on the hydrodesulfurization activity was investigated. Secondly, the effect of the presence of nitrogen compound on the HDS activity was investigated. Finally, the effect of the concentration nitrogen compound on hydrodesulfurization and hydrodenitrogenation activities were investigated by varying the nitrogen compound content in the feed. So the feeds were divided into three groups. The first feed consisted of dibenzothiophene (DBT) with a sulfur content of 2000 ppm in diesel oil. The second feed was mixture of DBT and pyridine in diesel oil with 2000 ppm of sulfur and 500 ppm of nitrogen, respectively. Finally, the third feed consisted of DBT with a sulfur content of 2000 ppm and pyridine with various nitrogen contents (100, 200, 300, 400, and 500 ppm) in diesel oil. Hydrodesulfurization and hydrodenitrogenation activities were measured. These samples were analyzed for total sulfur and nitrogen contents, which then were used to calculate HDS and HDN activities as followed.

HDS activity (%) = 
$$\frac{S_1 - S_2}{S_1} \times 100$$
 %

HDN activity (%) =  $\frac{N_1 - N_2}{N_1} \times 100\%$ 

Where	$\mathbf{S}_1$	is sulfur content in feed
	$S_2$	is sulfur content in product
	$N_1$	is nitrogen content in feed
	$N_2$	is nitrogen content in product

The average activities of CoMo catalysts are presented in Figure 5.7. In details, the first bar on the left is the average HDS activities of the catalysts in case of the feed containing only DBT. The second bar, in the middle was the average HDS activities of the catalysts for the feeds containing both DBT and pyridine. Finally, the third bar on the right is the average HDN activities of the catalysts for the feeds
containing both DBT and pyridine. In addition to the bar chart, numerical results are also listed in Table 5.8.



5.2.1 Catalytic activities CoMo catalyst

#### Figure 5.7 Catalytic activities of the CoMo catalysts

From Figure 5.7, in case of the feed that contained only DBT, The CoMo catalyst supported on 50Al-50Ti showed the highest HDS activities (83.22%). HDS activities of these catalysts appeared to decrease with increasing Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> content in the support.

When the feeds contained both DBT and pyridine the highest HDS activities was observed for CoMo/50A1-50Ti (70.95%). Similar trend of decreasing HDS activity was observed in this case, too.

When the feeds contained both DBT and pyridine the highest HDS activities was observed for CoMo/50Al-50Ti (60.44%). HDN activities of these catalysts appeared to decrease with increasing  $Al_2O_3$  content in the support.

Catalysta -	HDS activities (%)		UDN activities $(9/)$ *
Calarysis	DBT	DBT + pyridine	TIDN activities (70)*
CoMo/50Al-50Ti	83.22	70.95	60.44
CoMo/60Al-40Ti	69.35	56.72	54.00
CoMo/70Al-30Ti	77.84	69.05	50.67
CoMo/80Al-20Ti	73.00	59.14	42.34
CoMo/90Al-10Ti	71.80	59.83	40.26

#### Table 5.8 Catalytic activities of the CoMo catalysts

\* Feed is mixture of DBT and pyridine

#### 5.2.2 Effect of nitrogen compound for HDS and HDN on CoMo catalyst

The inhibition of HDS activity has been studied extensively. The inhibitors investigated included aromatics, nitrogen compound, sulfur compound, type of reactor and operating conditions. Of these, nitrogen compounds have been identified as the one with the most detrimental effect. The study found that the presence of nitrogen compounds in feed stream greatly reduced HDS activity of the catalyst. Knudsen et al. said that the nitrogen compounds present in the feed were the strong inhibitors for the HDS reaction through both hydrogenation and hydrogenolysis pathways [75]. The HDS of DBT occurred less frequently through the hydrogenation pathway because of the nitrogen compounds poisoning of the acidic sites of the catalyst, as confirmed by Nagai et al [35].

Only two catalysts (i.e., CoMo/50A1-50Ti and CoMo/60A1-40Ti) were selected to for investigate the effect of nitrogen compound. The results are illustrated in Figures 5.8 and 5.9. Clearly, CoMo/50A1-50Ti catalyst gave the higher activity than CoMo/60A1-40Ti catalyst for all concentrations of nitrogen. HDS and HDN activities of two catalysts were lower when the concentration of pyridine became greater probably because nitrogen compounds we the strong inhibitors for both HDS and HDN reactions. So active site on the catalyst for hydrotreatment was hindered by the presence of nitrogen in pyridine [76].



**Figure 5.8** HDS activity with feed that contained various amount of nitrogen of the CoMo catalysts





Both HDS and HDN activities for CoMo/50Al-50Ti that contained move  $TiO_2$ in the support were higher probably because  $TiO_2$  could facilitated the reduction of metal, as seen from H<sub>2</sub>- TPR results (see Figure 5.5 and Table 5.5). In addition,  $TiO_2$ in the support increased the surface acidity of the catalyst as seen from NH<sub>3</sub>-TPD results (see Table 5.7). Moreover,  $TiO_2$  in the support increased amount of active site and metal dispersion as seen from (see Table 5.6), leading to higher catalytic activ

## **CHAPTER VI**

## CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

In this chapter, section 6.1 provides the conclusions of this study on the catalytic activities of the CoMo catalysts for hydrodesulfurization and hydrodenitrogenation. Additionally, recommendations of this research for future study are given section 6.2.

#### **6.1 Conclusions**

- Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports were synthesized by a sol-gel method. The amount of TiO<sub>2</sub> that was incorporated into Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> increased the surface acidity of catalysts.
- Considering the reduction behaviors, addition of TiO<sub>2</sub> in mixed oxide supports led to greater reduction of Mo to the lower state by lowering the metal-support interaction of catalyst.
- HDS and HDN activities for CoMo/50Al-50Ti catalyst were the highest due to larger TiO<sub>2</sub> content in the other catalysts.
- The presence of pyridine in diesel oil decreased both HDS and HDN activities. Higher concentration of pyridine led to further reduction in HDS and HDN activities.

### **6.2 Recommendations**

- 1. The support containing other oxide could be studied for the effect of oxide support on the activity of hydrodesulfurization.
- Active species on the catalysts should be varied for study the effect of metal components on the Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub> mixed oxide supports.
- 3. The effect of nitrogen compounds should be investigated for other nitrogen compound

#### REFERENCES

- [1] Gates, B.C., Katzer, J.R., and Schuit, G.C.A. Chemistry of catalytic processes. 1979: McGraw-Hill.
- [2] Wei, Z.B., Yan, W., Zhang, H., Ren, T., Xin, Q., and Li, Z. Hydrodesulfurization activity of NiMo/TiO<sub>2</sub>Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalysts. <u>Applied Catalysis</u> <u>A: General</u> 167(1998): 39-48.
- [3] Plantenga, F.L. and Leliveld, R.G. Sulfur in fuels: more stringent sulfur specifications for fuels are driving innovation. <u>Applied Catalysis A: General</u> 248(2003): 1-7.
- [4] Massoth, F.E. and Kim, S.C. Polymer formation during the HDN of indole. <u>Catalysis Letters</u> 57(1999): 129-134.
- [5] Topsoe, H. and Clausen, B.S. Importance of Co-Mo-S Type Structures in Hydrodesulfurization. <u>Catalysis Reviews</u> 26(1984): 395-420.
- [6] Anderson, J., Boudart, M., Topsoe, H., Clausen, B., and Massoth, F. Hydrotreating Catalysis, in Catalysis. 1996, Springer Berlin Heidelberg. p. 1-269.
- [7] Farag, H., Whitehurst, D.D., Sakanishi, K., and Mochida, I. Carbon versus alumina as a support for Co-Mo catalysts reactivity towards HDS of dibenzothiophenes and diesel fuel. <u>Catalysis Today</u> 50(1999): 9-17.
- [8] Mochida, I., Sakanishi, K., Ma, X., Nagao, S., and Isoda, T. Deep hydrodesulfurization of diesel fuel: Design of reaction process and catalysts. <u>Catalysis Today</u> 29(1996): 185-189.
- [9] Suzuki, T., Iwanami, H.-i., and Yoshinari, T. Steam reforming of kerosene on Ru/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalyst to yield hydrogen. <u>International Journal of Hydrogen</u> <u>Energy</u> 25(2000): 119-126.
- [10] Satterfield, C.N., Modell, M., and Mayer, J.F. Interactions between catalytic hydrodesulfurization of thiophene and hydrodenitrogenation of pyridine. <u>AIChE Journal</u> 21(1975): 1100-1107.

- [11] Kaufmann, T.G., Kaldor, A., Stuntz, G.F., Kerby, M.C., and Ansell, L.L. Catalysis science and technology for cleaner transportation fuels. <u>Catalysis</u> <u>Today</u> 62(2000): 77-90.
- [12] Landau, M.V. Deep hydrotreating of middle distillates from crude and shale oils. <u>Catalysis Today</u> 36(1997): 393-429.
- [13] Shafi, R. and Hutchings, G.J. Hydrodesulfurization of hindered dibenzothiophenes: an overview. <u>Catalysis Today</u> 59(2000): 423-442.
- [14] Startsev, A.N. The Mechanism of HDS Catalysis. <u>Catalysis Reviews</u> 37(1995): 353-423.
- [15] DuBois, M.R. Catalytic applications of transition-metal complexes with sulfide ligands. <u>Chemical Reviews</u> 89(1989): 1-9.
- [16] Lewin, ski, J., Zachara, J., Horeglad, P., Glinka, D., Lipkowski, J., and Justyniak, I. Structural Evidence of the Epoxide Oxygen Propensity to Double Coordination <u>Inorganic Chemistry</u> 40(2001): 6086-6087.
- [17] Chianelli, R.R. Fundamental Studies of Transition Metal Sulfide Hydrodesulfurization Catalysts. <u>Catalysis Reviews</u> 26(1984): 361-393.
- [18] Grange, P. Catalytic Hydrodesulfurization. <u>Catalysis Reviews</u> 21(1980): 135-181.
- [19] Steinbüchel, A. Perspectives for Biotechnological Production and Utilization of Biopolymers: Metabolic Engineering of Polyhydroxyalkanoate Biosynthesis Pathways as a Successful Example. <u>Macromolecular Bioscience</u> 1(2001): 1-24.
- [20] Rauchfuss, T.B. The Coordination Chemistry of Thiophenes, in Progress in Inorganic Chemistry. 2007, John Wiley & Sons, Inc. p. 259-329.
- [21] Sanchez-Delgado, R.A. Breaking C-S bonds with transition metal complexes. A review of molecular approaches to the study of the mechanisms of the hydrodesulfurization reaction. <u>Journal of Molecular Catalysis</u> 86(1994): 287-307.
- [22] Bartsch, R. and Tanielian, C. Hydrodesulfurization: I. Hydrogenolysis of benzothiophene and dibenzothiophene over CoO-MoO<sub>3</sub>/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalyst. <u>Journal of Catalysis</u> 35(1974): 353-358.

- [23] Angelici, R.J. Heterogeneous catalysis of the hydrodesulfurization of thiophenes in petroleum: an organometallic perspective of the mechanism. <u>Accounts of Chemical Research</u> 21(1988): 387-394.
- [24] Spies, G.H. and Angelici, R.J. Model studies of thiophene hydrodesulfurization using (.eta.-thiophene)Ru(.eta.-C<sub>5</sub>H<sub>5</sub>)+. Reactions leading to C-S bond cleavage. <u>Organometallics</u> 6(1987): 1897-1903.
- [25] Zakharov, I.I., Startsev, A.N., Zhidomirov, G.M., and Parmon, V.N. Oxidative addition of dihydrogen as the key step of the active center formation in the HDS sulfide bimetallic catalysts: ab initio MO/MP<sub>2</sub> study. <u>Journal of Molecular Catalysis A: Chemical</u> 137(1999): 101-111.
- [26] Owens P, J. and Amberg C, H. Thiophene Desulfurization by a Microreactor Technique, in <bold>SOLID SURFACES</bold>. 1961, American Chemical Society. p. 182-198.
- [27] Vrinat, M.L. The kinetics of the hydrodesulfurization process a review. <u>Applied Catalysis</u> 6(1983): 137-158.
- [28] Benson, J.W., Schrader, G.L., and Angelici, R.J. Studies of the mechanism of thiophene hydrodesulfurization: 2H NMR and mass spectral analysis of 1,3butadiene produced in the deuterodesulfurization (DDS) of thiophene over PbMo<sub>6</sub>S<sub>8</sub> catalyst. Journal of Molecular Catalysis A: Chemical 96(1995): 283-299.
- [29] Delmon, B. and Dallons, J.L. Hydrogenolysis Mechanism of Five Membered Heteroatom Rings Over MoS<sub>2</sub>-Based Catalysts. <u>Bulletin des Sociétés</u> <u>Chimiques Belges</u> 97(1988): 475-480.
- [30] Prins, R. Hydrotreating, in Handbook of Heterogeneous Catalysis. 2008, Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.
- [31] McCarty, K.F. and Schrader, G.L. Deuterodesulfurization of thiophene: An investigation of the reaction mechanism. <u>Journal of Catalysis</u> 103(1987): 261-269.
- [32] Pecoraro, T.A. and Chianelli, R.R. Hydrodesulfurization catalysis by transition metal sulfides. <u>Journal of Catalysis</u> 67(1981): 430-445.

- [33] Egorova, M. and Prins, R. Hydrodesulfurization of dibenzothiophene and 4,6dimethyldibenzothiophene over sulfided NiMo/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, CoMo/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, and Mo/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalysts. Journal of Catalysis 225(2004): 417-427.
- [34] Kabe, T., Ishihara, A., and Zhang, Q. Deep desulfurization of light oil. Part 2: hydrodesulfurization of dibenzothiophene, 4-methyldibenzothiophene and 4,6dimethyldibenzothiophene. <u>Applied Catalysis A: General</u> 97(1993): L1-L9.
- [35] Nagai, M., Masunaga, T., and Hana-oka, N. Selectivity of molybdenum catalyst in hydrodenitrogenation, hydrodesulfurization and hydrodeoxygenation: Effects of sulfur and oxygen compounds on acridine hydrodenitrogenation. Journal of Catalysis 101(1986): 284-292.
- [36] Singhal, G.H., Espino, R.L., Sobel, J.E., and Huff Jr, G.A. Hydrodesulfurization of sulfur heterocyclic compounds: Kinetics of dibenzothiophene. Journal of Catalysis 67(1981): 457-468.
- [37] Cardenas, J.C., Lopez-Arenas, T., Lobo-Oehmichen, R., and Perez-Cisneros,
  E.S. Dynamic Evidence of Multiplicity in a Reactive Distillation Column for
  Ultra-Low Sulfur Diesel Production.
- [38] Coughlin, R.W. CLASSIFYING CATALYSTS: SOME BROAD PRINCIPLES. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry 59(1967): 45-57.
- [39] Choi, K.-H., Kunisada, N., Korai, Y., Mochida, I., and Nakano, K. Facile ultra-deep desulfurization of gas oil through two-stage or -layer catalyst bed. <u>Catalysis Today</u> 86(2003): 277-286.
- [40] Girgis, M.J. and Gates, B.C. Reactivities, reaction networks, and kinetics in high-pressure catalytic hydroprocessing. <u>Industrial & Engineering Chemistry</u> <u>Research</u> 30(1991): 2021-2058.
- [41] Schuit, G.C.A. and Gates, B.C. Chemistry and engineering of catalytic hydrodesulfurization. <u>AIChE Journal</u> 19(1973): 417-438.
- [42] Bianchini, C., Meli, A., and Vizza, F. Modelling the Hydrodenitrogenation of Aromatic N-Heterocycles in the Homogeneous Phase. <u>European Journal of</u> <u>Inorganic Chemistry</u> 2001(2001): 43-68.
- [43] Garcia-Martinez, J.C., Castillo-Araiza, C.O., De los Reyes Heredia, J.A., Trejo, E., and Montesinos, A. Kinetics of HDS and of the inhibitory effect of

quinoline on HDS of 4,6-DMDBT over a Ni-Mo-P/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalyst: Part I. <u>Chemical Engineering Journal</u> 210: 53-62.

- [44] Ho, T.C. Hydrodenitrogenation Catalysis. <u>Catalysis Reviews</u> 30(1988): 117-160.
- [45] Iwamoto, M. and Hamada, H. Removal of nitrogen monoxide from exhaust gases through novel catalytic processes. <u>Catalysis Today</u> 10(1991): 57-71.
- [46] Katzer, J.R. and Sivasubramanian, R. Process and Catalyst Needs for Hydrodenitrogenation. <u>Catalysis Reviews</u> 20(1979): 155-208.
- [47] Laine, R.M. Comments on the Mechanisms of Heterogeneous Catalysis of the Hydrodenitrogenation Reaction. <u>Catalysis Reviews</u> 25(1983): 459-474.
- [48] Mauge, F., Duchet, J.C., Lavalley, J.C., Houssenbay, S., Payen, E., Grimblot, J., and Kasztelan, S. The sulphided state of nickel molybdenum catalysts supported on zirconia and aluminates. <u>Catalysis Today</u> 10(1991): 561-577.
- [49] Prins, R., Jian, M., and Flechsenhar, M. Mechanism and kinetics of hydrodenitrogenation. <u>Polyhedron</u> 16(1997): 3235-3246.
- [50] Joyner, R.W. Principles of Catalyst Development. <u>Advanced Materials</u> 3(1991): 170-171.
- [51] Carp, O., Huisman, C.L., and Reller, A. Photoinduced reactivity of titanium dioxide. <u>Progress in Solid State Chemistry</u> 32(2004): 33-177.
- [52] Boer, J.H. and Linsen, B.G. Physical and chemical aspects of adsorbents and catalysts: dedicated to J. H. de Boer on the occasion of his retirement from the Technological University, Delft, The Netherlands. 1970: Academic Press.
- [53] Kwak, C., Lee, J.J., Bae, J.S., Choi, K., and Moon, S.H. Hydrodesulfurization of DBT, 4-MDBT, and 4,6-DMDBT on fluorinated CoMoS/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalysts. <u>Applied Catalysis A: General</u> 200(2000): 233-242.
- [54] Sun, Y., Wang, H., and Prins, R. Hydrodesulfurization with classic Co-MoS<sub>2</sub> and Ni-MoS<sub>2</sub>/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and new Pt-Pd on mesoporous zeolite catalysts. <u>Catalysis</u> <u>Today</u> 150: 213-217.
- [55] Cho, A. and Moon, S. Development of Highly Active Co(Ni)Mo Catalysts for the Hydrodesulfurization of Dibenzothiophene Compounds. <u>Catalysis Surveys</u> <u>from Asia</u> 14: 64-74.

- [56] Vanrysselberghe, V. and Froment, G.F. Hydrodesulfurization of Dibenzothiophene on a CoMo/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> Catalyst: Reaction Network and Kinetics. <u>Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research</u> 35(1996): 3311-3318.
- [57] Navarro, R., Pawelec, B., Fierro, J.L.G., and Vasudevan, P.T. Dibenzothiophene hydrodesulfurization on silica-alumina-supported transition metal sulfide catalysts. <u>Applied Catalysis A: General</u> 148(1996): 23-40.
- [58] Olguin, E., Vrinat, M., Cedeno, L., Ramirez, J., Borque, M., and Lopez-Agudo, A. The use of TiO<sub>2</sub>-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> binary oxides as supports for Mo-based catalysts in hydrodesulfurization of thiophene and dibenzothiophene. <u>Applied</u> <u>Catalysis A: General</u> 165(1997): 1-13.
- [59] Barrio, V.L., Arias, P.L., Cambra, J.F., Gemez, M.B., Pawelec, B., and Fierro, J.L.G. Hydrodesulfurization and hydrogenation of model compounds on silica-alumina supported bimetallic systems. <u>Fuel</u> 82(2003): 501-509.
- [60] Kunisada, N., Choi, K.-H., Korai, Y., Mochida, I., and Nakano, K. Optimization of silica content in alumina-silica support for NiMo sulfide to achieve deep desulfurization of gas oil. <u>Applied Catalysis A: General</u> 273(2004): 287-294.
- [61] Rana, M.S., Capitaine, E.M.R., Leyva, C., and Ancheyta, J. Effect of catalyst preparation and support composition on hydrodesulfurization of dibenzothiophene and Maya crude oil. <u>Fuel</u> 86(2007): 1254-1262.
- [62] Grzechowiak, J.R., Wereszczako-Zielinska, I., and Mrozin, ska, K. HDS and HDN activity of molybdenum and nickel-molybdenum catalysts supported on alumina-titania carriers. <u>Catalysis Today</u> 119(2007): 23-30.
- [63] Trejo, F., Rana, M.S., Ancheyta, J., and Rueda, A. Hydrotreating catalysts on different supports and its acid-base properties. <u>Fuel</u> 100: 163-172.
- [64] Laredo S, G.C., De los Reyes H, J.A., Luis Cano D, J., and Jessus Castillo M,
  J. Inhibition effects of nitrogen compounds on the hydrodesulfurization of dibenzothiophene. <u>Applied Catalysis A: General</u> 207(2001): 103-112.
- [65] Yang, H., Chen, J., Fairbridge, C., Briker, Y., Zhu, Y.J., and Ring, Z. Inhibition of nitrogen compounds on the hydrodesulfurization of substituted dibenzothiophenes in light cycle oil. <u>Fuel Processing Technology</u> 85(2004): 1415-1429.

- [66] Mizutani, H., Godo, H., Ohsaki, T., Kato, Y., Fujikawa, T., Saih, Y., Funamoto, T., and Segawa, K. Inhibition effect of nitrogen compounds on CoMoP/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalysts with alkali or zeolite added in hydrodesulfurization of dibenzothiophene and 4,6-dimethyldibenzothiophene. <u>Applied Catalysis A:</u> <u>General</u> 295(2005): 193-200.
- [67] Huang, W., Duan, A., Zhao, Z., Wan, G., Jiang, G., Dou, T., Chung, K.H., and Liu, J. Ti-modified alumina supports prepared by sol-gel method used for deep HDS catalysts. <u>Catalysis Today</u> 131(2008): 314-321.
- [68] Reyes-Coronado, D., Rodriguez-Gattorno, G., Espinosa-Pesqueira, M.E., Cab,
  C., De Coss, R., and Oskam, G. Phase-pure TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles: anatase,
  brookite and rutile. <u>Nanotechnology</u> 19(2008): 145605.
- [69] Liu, X., Li, X., and Yan, Z. Facile route to prepare bimodal mesoporous Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> as support for highly active CoMo-based hydrodesulfurization catalyst. <u>Applied Catalysis B: Environmental</u> 121-122: 50-56.
- [70] Pawelec, B., Castano, P., and Zepeda, T.A. Morphological investigation of nanostructured CoMo catalysts. <u>Applied Surface Science</u> 254(2008): 4092-4102.
- [71] Zepeda, T.A. Comparison and performance of different sulphided Ti-loaded mesostructured silica-supported CoMo catalysts in deep HDS. <u>Applied</u> <u>Catalysis A: General</u> 347(2008): 148-161.
- [72] Herrera, J.E. and Resasco, D.E. Loss of single-walled carbon nanotubes selectivity by disruption of the Co-Mo interaction in the catalyst. <u>Journal of</u> <u>Catalysis</u> 221(2004): 354-364.
- [73] Vakros, J., Kordulis, C., and Lycourghiotis, A. Cobalt Oxide Supported/Alumina Catalyst with Very High Active Surface Area Prepared by Equilibrium Deposition Filtration. <u>Langmuir</u> 18(2001): 417-422.
- [74] Wan, G., Duan, A., Zhao, Z., Huang, W., and Dou, T. Preparation and catalytic performance of modified kaolin clay with big pore for the hydrodesulfurization of diesel. <u>Journal of Porous Materials</u> 15(2008): 231-236.
- [75] Knudsen, K.G., Cooper, B.H., and Topsme, H. Catalyst and process technologies for ultra low sulfur diesel. <u>Applied Catalysis A: General</u> 189(1999): 205-215.

[76] Kirsch, F.W., Shalit, H., and Heinemann, H. Effect of Nitrogen Compounds on Hydrodesulfurization on Petroleum Fractions. <u>Industrial & Engineering</u> <u>Chemistry</u> 51(1959): 1379-1380. APPENDICES

## **APPENDIX** A

## CALCULATION FOR CATALYST PREPARATION

Preparation of CoMo catalysts was shown as follow:

1. Cobalt (II) nitrate hexahydrate

Formula:	$Co(NO_3)_2.6H_2O$
Molecular weight:	291.04 g/mol
Purity:	99.999 wt.% metal

2. Ammonium heptamolybdate tetrahydrate

Formula:	(NH <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>6</sub> Mo <sub>7</sub> O <sub>24</sub> .4H <sub>2</sub> O
Molecular weight:	1235.88 g/mol
Purity:	99.98 wt.% metal

The catalysts contained composition of cobalt and molybdenum at 2.93 and 13.7 wt.% based on metal, respectively.

## **Example: For 5 g of the catalyst**

 $Co = 0.0293 \times 5 = 0.1465 g$ 

 $Mo = 0.137 \times 5 = 0.6850 g$ 

Support = 5 - 0.293 - 1.37 = 3.337 g

For Co 0.293 g (molecular weight of cobalt is 58.93 g/mol) required was prepared from  $Co(NO_3)_2.6H_2O$ :

$$Co(NO_3)_2.6H_2O = \frac{M \text{ wof } Co(NO_3)_2.6H_2O}{M \text{ wof } Co \times 0.99999} \times \text{ weight of Co required}$$

$$= \frac{291.04}{58.93 \times 0.999999} \times 0.293$$
$$= 1.4471 \text{ g}$$

For Mo 1.37 g (molecular weight of molybdenum is 95.94 g/mol) required was prepared from  $(NH_4)_6Mo_7O_{24}.4H_2O$ :

$$(NH_4)_6 Mo_7 O_{24.} 4H_2 O = \frac{M \text{ w of } (NH_4)_6 M \text{ or } O_{24.} 4H_2 O}{M \text{ w of } M \text{ or } 7 \times 0.9998} \times \text{ weight of } M \text{ or equired}$$
$$= \frac{1235.88}{95.94 \times 7 \times 0.9998} \times 1.37$$
$$= 2.5217 \text{ g}$$

### **APPENDIX B**

## **CALCULATION FOR HYDROGEN CONSUMPTION**

For determining the amount of  $H_2$  consumption for  $H_2$ -TPR in each catalyst, it can be assumed that phase of CoO and MoO<sub>3</sub> were reduced with  $H_2$  to Co and Mo, respectively.

Assumption

For the CoMo catalysts, it can be assumed that the major species of calcined the CoMo catalysts is NiO. We used standard NiO for calibration in calculation of  $H_2$  consumption. When 0.1 g of NiO has integral area between TCD signal versus time equal to 220.26 units for complete reduction.

For NiO reduction:

 $NiO + H_2 \rightarrow Ni + H_2O$ 

From this equation:

```
Mole of H_2 for complete reduction = Mole of NiO used
```

Calculation of the calibration of H2 consumption using NiO (has 220.26 area units for complete reduction)

Mole of H <sub>2</sub> consumption	=	mole of NiO
	=	$1.3389 \times 10^{-3}$ mol
	=	$6.0787 \times 10^{-6}$ mol/area unit
Integral area of the calcined catalyst	=	X unit
The amount of H <sub>2</sub> consumption	=	$6.0787 \times 10^{-6} \times X$ unit

# **APPENDIX C**



# ADSORPTION-DESORPTION DATA

Figure C.1 Adsorption-desorption isotherm of 50Al-50Ti support



Figure C.2 Adsorption-desorption isotherm of 60Al-40Ti support



Figure C.3 Adsorption-desorption isotherm of 70Al-30Ti support



Figure C.4 Adsorption-desorption isotherm of 80A1-20Ti support



Figure C.5 Adsorption-desorption isotherm of 90Al-10Ti support



Figure C.6 Adsorption-desorption isotherm of CoMo/50Al-50Ti catalyst



Figure C.7 Adsorption-desorption isotherm of CoMo/60Al-40Ti catalyst



Figure C.8 Adsorption-desorption isotherm of CoMo/70Al-30Ti catalyst



Figure C.9 Adsorption-desorption isotherm of CoMo/80Al-20Ti catalyst



Figure C.10 Adsorption-desorption isotherm of CoMo/90Al-10Ti catalyst

## **APPENDIX D**

# CALCULATION FOR METAL DISPERSION

Carbon monoxide (CO) chemisorption is a technique for determining active sites of the catalysts.

For calculation a metal dispersion of the CoMo catalysts (2.93 wt.% Co and 13.7 wt.% Mo):

Example: For 0.05 g of the Catalyst that it has CO uptake 0.384 cm<sup>3</sup> STP/g

Co	=	$0.05 \times 0.0293$
	=	1.47 mg
Мо	=	$0.05 \times 0.137$
	=	6.85 mg
Metal amount	=	1.47 + 6.85 mg
	=	8.32 mg

Assume one CO molecule will chemisorb with one molecule of metals (Co or Mo)

Mole of metals	=	Mole of CO
	=	0.384/22400 mol
	=	0.017 mmol

Amount of metals	=	$0.017 \times Mw$ average
	=	$0.017 \times 89.42$
	=	1.533 mg
Metal dispersion (%)	=	Amount of metal by CO uptake Amount of metal by the catalyst
	=	$\frac{1.533 \text{mg}}{8.32 \text{ mg}} \times 100$
	=	18.42

#### VITA

Miss Teraporn Leungon was born on October 6<sup>th</sup>, 1987 in Chanthaburi, Thailand. She finished high school from Princess Chulabhorn's College Chonburi in 2006. She graduated bachelor degree in Chemical Engineering from Faculty of Engineering and Industrial Technology, Silpakorn University. She continued her master's study at Department of Chemical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, Chulalongkorn University in June 2011.

#### PUBLICATION

Teraporn Leungon and Akawat Sirisuk. HYDRODESULFURIZATION AND HYDRODENITROGENATION OF DIBENZOTHIOPHENE MIXED WITH PIRIDINE OVER HDS CATALYSTS SUPPORTED ON Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub> MIXED OXIDES. Pure and Applied Chemistry International Conference, Burapha University, January 23-25, 2013.